NUCLEAR PORE COMPLEX: BIOCHEMISTRY AND BIOPHYSICS OF NUCLEOCYTOPLASMIC TRANSPORT IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

T. Jamali, Y. Jamali, M. Mehrbod, and M.R.K. Mofrad

Contents

1. Introduction	234
2. What Drives Cargo Transport Through the NPC?	240
2.1. Cargo complex association	242
2.2. Transport of cargo complex across the channel	247
2.3. Cargo complex dissociation	249
2.4. Karyopherin recycling	254
2.5. Ran cycle	258
3. Nucleocytoplasmic Transport Pathway	265
4. NPC and Diseases	267
4.1. Cancer	267
4.2. Autoimmune diseases	270
4.3. Nervous system diseases	270
4.4. Cardiac disease	272
4.5. Infectious diseases	272
4.6. Other disorders	275
5. Conclusion	276
Acknowledgments	276
References	277

Abstract

Nuclear pore complexes (NPCs) are the gateways connecting the nucleoplasm and cytoplasm. This structures are composed of over 30 different proteins and 60–125 MDa of mass depending on type of species. NPCs are bilateral pathways that selectively control the passage of macromolecules into and out of the nucleus. Molecules smaller than 40 kDa diffuse through the NPC passively while larger molecules require facilitated transport provided by their attachment to karyopherins. Kinetic studies have shown that approximately 1000 translocations occur per second per NPC. Maintaining its high selectivity while

Department of Bioengineering, University of California, Berkeley, California, USA

International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology, Volume 287	© 2011 Elsevier Inc.
ISSN 1937-6448, DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-386043-9.00006-2	All rights reserved.

allowing for rapid translocation makes the NPC an efficient chemical nanomachine. In this review, we approach the NPC function via a structural viewpoint. Putting together different pieces of this puzzle, this chapter confers an overall insight into what molecular processes are engaged in import/export of active cargos across the NPC and how different transporters regulate nucleocytoplasmic transport. In the end, the correlation of several diseases and disorders with the NPC structural defects and dysfunctions is discussed.

Key Words: Nuclear pore complexes, Nucleocytoplasmic transport, Karyopherins, Importin, Exportin, Ran, Infectious disease, Cancer. © 2011 Elsevier Inc.

1. INTRODUCTION

The nucleus and cytoplasm are home to a myriad of processes vital to the cell. These processes are dependent upon shuttling of various macromolecules between these two environments (Kau et al., 2004). Such transport phenomena occur through nanopores called nuclear pore complexes (NPCs). NPCs are embedded in the nuclear envelop (NE), where the internal and external membranes fuse (Fig. 6.1) (Peters, 2009a).

Different studies have shown that the NPC structure resembles an hourglass (Peters, 2009a) or a donut (Stoffler et al., 2003) shape but has an octagonal radial symmetry around its central axis (Frenkiel-Krispin et al., 2010; Miao and Schulten, 2009; Wolf and Mofrad, 2008; Yang and Musser, 2006) as well as a pseudo-twofold symmetry across the NE (Frenkiel-Krispin et al., 2010; Miao and Schulten, 2009). This structure comprises eight centered cylindrical frameworks, each called a spoke, which enclose a central channel. This channel is sandwiched between the cytoplasmic and nuclear rings (Fig. 6.1; Akey and Radermacher, 1993; Wolf and Mofrad, 2008). In addition, eight cytoplasmic filaments emanate from the cytoplasmic ring to the cytoplasm and eight nuclear filaments, which are branched from the nuclear ring, join each other in the nuclear side of the NPC, shaping a basket-like structure known as the nuclear basket (Fig. 6.1; Elad et al., 2009). Various microscopic studies have shown that the overall length of the NPC including its extended cytoplasmic and nuclear filaments reaches 150–200 nm, while its external diameter is around 100–125 nm. The radius of the cytoplasmic and nuclear sides of this channel is 60–70 nm, and it narrows to about 25-45 nm at the center (Adam, 2001; Brohawn and Schwartz, 2009; DeGrasse et al., 2009; Kau et al., 2004; Schwartz, 2005; Stoffler et al., 2003; Yang and Musser, 2006) (Fig. 6.1). Nevertheless, the opening diameter of this channel has been estimated to be approximately 10 nm (Shulga and Goldfarb, 2003). In addition to the central channel, some peripheral channels with diameters of about 8 nm reportedly exist,



Figure 6.1 (A) The NPC structure resembles an hourglass (Peters, 2009a) or donut (Stoffler et al., 2003). This channel is sandwiched between the cytoplasmic and nuclear rings (Akey and Radermacher, 1993; Wolf and Mofrad, 2008). In addition, eight cytoplasmic filaments emanate from the cytoplasmic ring to the cytoplasm and eight nuclear filaments, which are branched from the nuclear ring, join each other in the nuclear side of the NPC, shaping a basket-like structure known as the nuclear basket (Elad et al., 2009). The structure of the NPC is composed of three concentric layers (Lusk et al., 2007; Suntharalingam and Wente, 2003; Walde and Kehlenbach, 2010): (1) The FG repeat layer is the innermost layer of the NPC and is directly exposed to cargo undergoing transport. (2) The membrane layer is the outermost layer that anchors the NPC to the NE. (3) The scaffold layer is located between the above-mentioned layers, forming the structure of the NPC (Lusk et al., 2007). (B) The overall length of the NPC including its extended cytoplasmic and nuclear filaments reaches 150-200 nm, while its external diameter is around 100-125 nm. The radius of the cytoplasmic and nuclear sides of this channel are 60-70 nm, with the radius narrowing to about 25-45 nm at the center (Adam, 2001; Brohawn and Schwartz, 2009; DeGrasse et al., 2009; Kau et al., 2004; Schwartz, 2005; Stoffler et al., 2003; Yang and Musser, 2006).

which contribute to transport of ions and small proteins (Frenkiel-Krispin et al., 2010; Kramer et al., 2007; Stoffler et al., 2003).

The NPC, as the largest nanomachine of the cell, is a bilateral, selective filter for a variety of molecules, transporting them quite rapidly without completely opening or closing the gateway structure (Kapon et al., 2008). Small molecules and ions ($M_r \sim 20-40$ kDa, diameter $\sim 5-9$ nm) travel through the NPC via passive diffusion, whereas larger molecules ($M_r > 40$ kDa up to ~ 25 MDa, diameter of up to ~ 40 nm) such as ribosomes, RNAs, and some proteins can only be transported through an active mechanism regulated by transporters (Miao and Schulten, 2009; Yang and Musser, 2006). It is observed that the size of the entering molecule affects the transport rate through the NPC (Moussavi-Baygi et al., 2011). A sharp drop in the transport rate is expected for cargo complexes with radii larger than the channel radius (Peters, 2005). Some researchers reported that passive diffusion and facilitated transport are not coupled and occur through different pathways (Naim et al., 2007). Nevertheless, recent studies provided evidence to refute this hypothesis, suggesting that passive and facilitated transports take place through the same channel in the NPC (Mohr et al., 2009). Studies of microscopy indicate that the NPC structure dynamically changes its conformation in response to chemical or physical effectors, such as alterations in calcium ion concentration, Co_2 , and ATP in the cell environment (Erickson et al., 2006; Oberleithner et al., 2000; Rakowska et al., 1998).

Proteomics analyses show that the NPC is a supra molecule made up of approximately 30 types of proteins named nucleoporins (Nups) (Fig. 6.2) (Hetzer, 2010; Walde and Kehlenbach, 2010). Due to the eightfold symmetry of the NPC structure, Nups have been observed in sets of multiple (8–48) copies in yeast and mammalian cells (Bednenko et al., 2003b). Therefore, the total number of Nups per NPC is estimated to be approximately 500–1000 (Peters, 2005; Sorokin et al., 2007). Some Nups are symmetrically found in both cytoplasmic and nuclear sides, some are only present on one side, and others make up the central framework (Strawn et al., 2004; Zeitler and Weis, 2004). This structure also possesses some mobile Nups that have different activities during each period of the cell cycle (Hou and Corces, 2010; Terry and Wente, 2009; Walde and Kehlenbach, 2010). The structure of the NPC is composed of three concentric layers (Fig. 6.1; Lusk et al., 2007; Suntharalingam and Wente, 2003; Walde and Kehlenbach, 2010): (1) The FG repeat layer is the innermost layer



Figure 6.2 The overall structure of NPC along with some important Nups shown at their approximate positions.

of the NPC and is directly exposed to cargo undergoing transport; this layer coats the channel, facilitating the active transport of cargos (Terry and Wente, 2009). (2) The membrane layer is the outermost layer that anchors the NPC to the NE. (3) The scaffold layer is located between the abovementioned layers, forming the structure of the NPC (Lusk et al., 2007). These layers are composed of various Nups (Fig. 6.2). The first layer is composed of phenylalanine-glycine-rich repeat domains such as FxFG, GLFG, PxFG, and SxFG. These Nups have flexible structures and are spread over the peripheral and central parts of the NPC (Denning et al., 2003; Peleg and Lim, 2010; Zeitler and Weis, 2004) (Fig. 6.1). It is reported that FG domains include some one-third of the Nups, and FG repeat domains account for 12-20% of the NPC mass (Devos et al., 2006; Frey and Gorlich, 2007). Although the cargo complex transport mechanism through the NPC remains unsolved, several models, such as virtual gate, selective phase, reduction of dimensionality, reversible FG, and forest model (Frenkiel-Krispin et al., 2010; Moussavi-Baygi et al., 2011; Peleg and Lim, 2010; Suntharalingam and Wente, 2003), have been proposed, each elucidating a transport mechanism through this proteinaceous structure in a distinct way.

The flexible domains of these Nups play a key role in the passage of cargos along the nucleotransport pathway via their low affinity with cargo. Molecules that travel through the NPC by binding to FG repeats have significantly higher transport rates than those without attachment to FG repeats, given their similar size and shapes (Ribbeck and GoErlich, 2001). Additionally, FG-Nups are equipped with coiled coil domains, which anchor them to the NPC bulk (Devos et al., 2006). The membrane layer of the NPC is composed of integral membrane proteins, which have transmembrane helices. Generally, these structures are equipped with α -helical domains to anchor them to the NE and with Cadherin-fold domains to reinforce the NE against excessive lateral movements. The only nondynamic Nups of the NPC are those existing in the membrane layer (Bednenko et al., 2003b). Aside from Nups containing FG, coiled coil, and transmembrane domains, all other Nups are part of the scaffold (the third) layer and include approximately 1/2 of all Nups (Walde and Kehlenbach, 2010). These Nups have β -propeller and α -solenoid structures and a significant percentage of the NPC mass is composed of these Nups, with approximately one-third of Nups containing α -solenoid domains (Devos et al., 2006; Rout et al., 2000). In addition, some Nups include specific structural motifs such as "Zinc finger domains" and motifs connected to RNA (Cassola and Frasch, 2009; Yaseen and Blobel, 1999).

Generally, the number of NPCs on the NE is independent of the nucleus' surface area and DNA volume. The number of NPCs per nucleus varies significantly for different species, environmental conditions, cell activities, and periods of the cell life cycle (Gerace and Burke, 1988).

For example, yeast barely have 200 NPCs per nucleus, while the number of NPCs per nucleus for vertebrates is on average 2000–5000 (10–20 pores/ μ m²) (Fabre and Hurt, 1997). Large nuclei of *Xenopus oocytes* are home to as many as 5×10^7 NPCs (over 60 pores/ μ m²) (Gorlich and Kutay, 1999). While NPCs are seen to exist throughout the cell cycle, the number of these pores doubles in dividing cells during interphase and before mitosis and they reach a maximum number in the S-phase of the cell cycle (D'Angelo et al., 2006). It has also been shown that some hormones increase the number and density of NPCs (Miller et al., 1991). Apparently, an increased number of NPCs provides some cells with resistance to chemotherapy (Lim et al., 2008). Experiments clearly indicate an increase in the number of NPCs in embryonic stem cells (ES) as they differentiate into proliferative cardiomvocytes. Therefore, differentiation of embryonic stem cells could be traced to changes in the number of NPCs. Differentiation of ES in cardiac progeny is likely associated with the structural and functional remodeling of the NPC (Lim et al., 2008; Perez-Terzic et al., 2007). A comparison between isolated cardiomyocytes from heart and ES-originated cells indicates no difference in dimensions of the NPCs. Nonetheless, it is reported that the number of NPCs in cells isolated from the heart is greater than those originating from stem cells. Also, increased transport activity of the NPC is reportedly observed in stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes (Perez-Terzic et al., 2003).

The overall architecture of the NPC is conserved among the eukaryotic cells (Brohawn and Schwartz, 2009) and this conservation is established in the last eukaryotic common ancestor (DeGrasse et al., 2009). It is likely that the NPC has been a structural part of another organism like archea (Bapteste et al., 2005). Also, it is speculated that NPCs are the chimaeras from endomembrane and mitosis-related chromatin-associated proteins (Cavalier-Smith, 2010). Investigations conducted on yeast and mammalian cells indicate that functions and localization of their NPCs are similar even though their sequences are not exactly conserved (Bapteste et al., 2005; Kiseleva et al., 2004; Neumann et al., 2006; Yasuhara et al., 2009). Interestingly, a large number of Nups are conserved among all known eukaryotic cells, but many of them are specific to certain cells (Frenkiel-Krispin et al., 2010; Neumann et al., 2006). As a result, it is claimed that the overall shape and size of the NPC has been conserved through evolution (Alber et al., 2007; Yasuhara et al., 2009); however, some structural distinctions are observable among NPCs of different species (Elad et al., 2009). Structural analyses illustrate some differences in the location of Nups as well as their number of copies among the NPCs of different species. In contrast to related species, though, NPCs of distinct species have low structural homology (Frenkiel-Krispin et al., 2010).

Indeed, transport through the NPC and the NPC components provides a broad range of vital functions for the cell. Comparative proteomic analysis of

the NPC predicts some unexpected functions for this massive complex (Elad et al., 2009). Generally, this structure could affect indispensible cellular functions, such as gene expression, DNA damage and repair, aging, apoptosis, and even determination of cell differentiation and fate (Batrakou et al., 2009; Mishra et al., 2010; Nagai et al., 2008; Nakano et al., 2010; Yasuhara et al., 2007, 2009; Wolf and Mofrad, 2009). As a result, any structural defect or malfunction in this key regulator could cause different diseases or even death. Since understanding the NPC structure is essential to deciphering its function, many scientists have been engaged in structural studies of this large complex during the past few years and various approaches have been exploited to investigate the role of the NPC in different diseases with the hope to find remedial solutions. In this review, we first examine and discuss how different molecules are transported through the NPC while the dysfunctions caused by the NPC structural defects will be described at the end.

This review is composed of two major parts. In the first part (Sections 2 and 3), we will discuss briefly how different molecules (Fig. 6.3) orchestrate the exquisite process of nucleocytoplasmic transport (NCT). Since some cargos need to form complexes with specific molecules, termed transporters, in order to be able to pass through the NPC, we will first explain the definition of transporters along with signal sequences on the cargo transporter proteins required to identify a protein. Section 2.1 will focus mainly on the structure of important transporters, such as importin α (imp α) and importin β (imp β), and interactions between cargos and these transporters, which lead to the formation of a nucleus entering cargo complex in the

Human	Yeast	Involve in	Mw(KD)	Shape	Human	Yeast	Involve in	Mw(KD)	Shape
lmpα	Kap60	Cargo complex association/disassociation Karyopherin recycling	60	All Same	NTF2/ P10	NTF2/ P10	Ran cycle	28	
Impβ	Kap95	Cargo complex association/disassociation	95	0	RanGAP	Ran1	Ran cycle	58–60	
Nup50	Nup2	Cargo complex disassociation	50		RanBP2	-	Ran cycle	358	
CAS	Cse1	Karyopherin recycling	100	5	RanBP1	Yrb1	Ran cycle	23	
Ran	Gsp1	Cargo complex disassociation Ran cycle	24		RanGEF /RCC1	Prp20	Ran cycle	45	

Figure 6.3 Some important molecules of nucleocytoplasmic transport.

cytoplasm. In Section 2.2, we will follow the pathway of a typical active cargo through the NPC, while Section 2.3 will take a glance at some newly deciphered molecular structures, such as Ran, Nup50 (Nup2p), and their interaction with the entering cargo complexes, which leads to dissociation of the complex in the nuclear basket. Next, in Section 2.4, the recycling pathway of transporters to the cytoplasm and the molecular structure of cellular apoptosis susceptibility molecule (CAS), which is highly engaged in this process, will be explained. Section 2.5 will examine the Ran cycle (hydrolysis process of GTP of RanGTP and replacement of GTP with GDP in RanGDP), the molecules involved in this cycle, and their contribution to NCT. Finally, in Section 3, we conclude this part of the review by summarizing the nucleocytoplasmic pathway mechanism. The second part of this review is dedicated to diseases and disorders linked to NPC structural and functional defects, for example cancer, nervous system and autoimmune disorders, and cardiac and infectious diseases will be discussed.

2. WHAT DRIVES CARGO TRANSPORT THROUGH THE NPC?

The major task of the NPC is control and regulation of the traffic of macromolecules into and out of the nucleus. When considering the bidirectional transport of cargos from the cytoplasm to the nucleus and vice versa, on average, as many as 1000 transports are observed through an NPC per second (Fahrenkrog et al., 2004; Peters, 2005), with this high-throughput rate of cargo translocation achieved via transporters. The most important category of transporters is known as the β karyopherin family, which we call the karyopherin family hereinafter for the sake of simplicity (Cook and Conti, 2010; Fiserova and Goldberg, 2010; Pemberton and Paschal, 2005; Peters, 2009b). Members of this family are engaged in regulation of the NE and NPC assembly as well as the replication phenomenon (Mosammaparast and Pemberton, 2004). Karyopherins are possibly conserved through evolution and they are developed from a common ancestor. While the molecular weight of karyopherins is quite similar, they share no more than 20% common sequences (Mosammaparast and Pemberton, 2004). These large proteins (~ 100 kDa) are generally divided into two groups: importins and exportins. As their names suggest, importins control import of materials from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, while exportins help macromolecules exit the nucleus. Currently, 14 members of the karyopherin family in yeast and 20 of them in human cells have been identified. In human cells, 10 of these macromolecules belong to importins; however, only two groups are known to have a significant contribution to the transport phenomena and are more commonly called imp α and imp β .

Also, seven types of exportins have been discovered, which include Crm1, exp-t, and CAS. Some karyopherins such as importin13 in human and msn5p in yeast are involved in import and export of materials across the NPC (Chumakov and Prasolov, 2010; Dorfman and Macara, 2008; Mosammaparast and Pemberton, 2004; Pemberton and Paschal, 2005; Strom and Weis, 2001). Additionally, there are other transporters, such as Tap/Mex67 and Calreticulin, that play critical roles in the transport process, yet they do not belong to the karyopherin family (Holaska et al., 2001; Tartakoff and Tao, 2010; Wente, 2000).

Members of the karyopherin family have three major characteristics. First, they need to bind to cargos to carry them. Second, if they are to pass through the NPC they must interact with FG repeats, which line the inner face of the NPC. Finally, they need a supply of energy for continued transport, which is provided via interactions with GTP-bound Ran (Ran is a member of Ras family GTPase) (Moore and Blobel, 1994). This trait has a central effect on the regulation of cargo transport. The affinity of karyopherins to Ran varies among members of the karyopherin family. Some karyopherins bind to Ran molecules with high affinities ($k_d \sim nM$), whereas some others have low affinities to Ran (Macara, 2001). Further, evidence exists on the affinity of karyopherins to GDP-bound Ran and it is known that the imp β -RanGDP bond is four orders of magnitude weaker than the imp β -RanGTP bond (Lonhienne et al., 2009). However, karyopherins are capable of attaching to cargos which facilitates their passage through the channel. Some results indicate collisions and interactions of import transporters with cytoplasmic compounds slow down movement of the transporters. Nonetheless, the binding of transporters to cargos disrupts these interactions and expedites the transport process (Wu et al., 2009). It has been reported that karyopherins undergo post-translational modification, which also helps regulate the import and export of cargos (Mosammaparast and Pemberton, 2004).

Importins and exportins bind to certain sequences of the cargo termed nuclear localization sequences (NLSs) and nuclear export sequences (NESs), respectively. NLSs are divided into classic and nonclassic groups. Classic NLSs (cNLSs) contain basic charged amino acids like arginine and lysine, as opposed to nonclassic NLSs (ncNLS), which lack basic amino acid residues. There are two types of classic NLSs: monopartites contain a single basic amino acid stretch, while bipartites possess a couple of those stretches. This sequence, for instance, looks like "¹²⁶PKKKRK¹³²" in Simian Virus40 (SV40) T antigen, forming a monopartite NLS. In nucleoplasmin, the NLS can be shown as "¹⁵⁵KRPAATKKAGQAKKKK¹⁷⁰," having two stretches of basic amino acids 10–12 amino acids apart from each other and forming a bipartite NLS (Fontes et al., 2000, 2003; Lam and Dean, 2010; Lange et al., 2007). It was observed recently that length of the linker between two basic amino acid groups may vary depending on amino acid

compositions and reach to even 29 amino acids (Lange et al., 2010). Exported cargos are decorated with NESs usually having Leu-rich or the hydrophobic amino acids. Computational alignment studies show that most NESs have sequences like the following: φ -X₍₂₋₃₎- φ -X₍₂₋₃₎- φ -X- φ (where φ is one of the hydrophobic amino acids, M, F, V, L, and J, and X could be any arbitrary amino acid) (Kutay and Güttinger, 2005; La Cour et al., 2004; Lui and Huang, 2009).

2.1. Cargo complex association

2.1.1. Importin β

Imp β is a 95-kDa flexible super-helix, which can take different conformations. Like other members of the karyopherin family, its flexibility facilitates the formation of complexes with different cargo sizes and shapes. It is capable of interacting reversibly with crucial transport molecules such as cargo, FG-Nups, and RanGTP (Cook et al., 2007) (Fig. 6.4). This super-helix is composed of 19 tandem HEAT repeats (Huntingtin, elongation factor 3 [EF3], protein phosphatase 2A [PP2A], and the yeast PI3-kinase TOR1) (Fig. 6.5). HEAT repeat motifs exist in structures of $imp\beta$, CAS, and other importins and exportins. These repeats only have about 20% of their sequences in common with each other. However, they are mostly similar in their N-terminus, which is a binding site for Ran. HEAT repeats include 39 amino acid motifs and are composed of antiparallel A and B α -helices (Fig. 6.5). These A and B helices build two C-like arches, which connect to each other by a turn. These α -helices are stacked so that they construct a spring-like helicoidal structure. A-helices construct the convex side of $imp\beta$, while its concave side is composed of B-helices (Lee et al., 2005; Stewart, 2006; Strom and Weis, 2001; Zachariae and Grubmuller, 2008).

In the free condition, $imp\beta$ has an S-shaped open conformation. It then closes when attached to the importin β binding (IBB) domain of $imp\alpha$, RanGTP, and Nups (Fig. 6.4). In other words, its helical pitch reduces upon attachment, like a snake wrapping around its "prey." Simulations indicate that $imp\beta$ is curved when bound to a ligand and it opens up and elongates once it is released (Bednenko et al., 2003a; Cingolani et al., 1999; Conti et al., 2006).

2.1.2. Importin α

Imp α is a 55-kDa protein that acts as an adaptor to connect classic NLSs to imp β . It is decorated with Arm repeats (Armadillo), which are related to imp β -producer HEAT repeats (Goldfarb et al., 2004) (Fig. 6.6). The Arm repeat is a 40 amino acid motif composed of three α -helices called H1, H2, and H3 (Tewari et al., 2010). These α -helices are mounted together in a right-handed super-helix, building a banana-like shape (Fig. 6.6). Analyses show that imp α is composed of three major parts. Its N-terminus is



Figure 6.4 Imp β is a flexible super-helix that can take different conformations. This flexibility helps form complexes with a variety of cargo sizes and shapes. In its free condition (central figure), importin- β has an S-shaped open conformation. It closes when attached to Nups (A), the IBB domain of importin- α (B), or RanGTP (C). Its helical pitch reduces upon attachment, similar to a snake wrapping around its "prey" (Bednenko et al., 2003a; Cingolani et al., 1999; Conti et al., 2006).

composed of 40 amino acids referred to as the importin β binding (IBB) domain and is the imp β binding site (Fig. 6.6); its central part, which has Arm repeats, is able to bind to NLSs; and last, the C-terminus part with the 10th Arm repeat, which binds to CAS (Goldfarb et al., 2004; Stewart, 2006) (Fig. 6.6).

2.1.3. Interactions engaged in NLS–imp α –imp β complex formation

The NLS-imp α -imp β complex is known to assemble via two major processes. In the first mechanism, imp α binds to the NLS and afterward to imp β . In the second process, which is actually more probable to occur, imp α primarily binds to imp β and after that this complex binds to the NLS (Goldfarb et al., 2004). The IBB domain in imp α has a basic L-shaped structure including an extended section bound to HEAT repeats 7–10 of imp β (Fig. 6.7). In this zone, the IBB interacts with an acidic loop



Figure 6.5 Importin- β : this super-helix is composed of 19 tandem HEAT repeats. HEAT repeat motifs exist in structure of imp β , CAS, and other importins and exportins. HEAT repeats include 39 amino acid motifs and are composed of antiparallel A and B α -helices. These A and B helices form two C-like arches, which connect to each other by a turn. These α -helices are piled so that they construct a spring-like helicoidal structure. A-helices construct the convex side of imp β , while its concave side is composed of B-helices (Lee et al., 2005; Stewart, 2006; Strom and Weis, 2001; Zachariae and Grubmuller, 2008).



Figure 6.6 Imp α is a 55-kDa protein that acts as an adaptor to connect classic NLSs to imp β . It is decorated with Arm repeats (Armadillo). Arm repeat is a 40 amino acid motif made up of three α -helices called H1, H2, and H3 (Tewari et al., 2010). These α -helices are stacked together in a right-handed super-helix, building a banana-like shape. The concave inner part of imp α is made out of H3 α -helices. Analyses show that imp α is composed of three major parts. First, the N-terminus part composed of 40 amino acids that is called IBB domain (importin β -binding domain) and is the imp β binding site. Second, the central part equipped with Arm repeats, which are able to bind to NLSs, and lastly, the C-terminus part with the 10th Arm repeat, which binds to CAS (Goldfarb et al., 2004; Stewart, 2006).



Figure 6.7 Importin α - β complex: the IBB domain in imp α (lighter color) has a basic L-shaped structure including an extended section bound to HEAT repeats 7–10 of imp β (darker color). In this zone, the IBB interacts with an acidic loop located on the HEAT repeat 8. The IBB structure is also composed of α -helices attaching to HEAT repeats 12–19. The inner surface of imp β contains acidic residues that interact with positively charged IBB domain residues.

(DDDDDW) located on HEAT repeat 8 (Fig. 6.7). The IBB structure is also composed of α -helices attaching to HEAT repeats 12–19 (Fig. 6.7). In fact, the inner surface of imp β contains acidic residues that interact with positively charged IBB domain residues. As many as 40 different contacts including electrostatic, Van der Waals, and hydrophobic ones come together to attach the IBB domain to imp β (Cingolani et al., 1999; Madrid and Weis, 2006; Stewart, 2003; Zachariae and Grubmuller, 2008).

The concave inner part of imp α comprises H3 α -helices (Fig. 6.6). This part has two binding sites for NLSs (Fig. 6.8). The first one is a major groove, which presents a larger area of binding between Arm repeats 2 and 4 and is closer to the imp α N-terminus. The major groove attaches to the monopartite NLS and the larger basic cluster of the bipartite NLS. The second bond is the minor groove located between Arm repeats 7 and 8, forming a smaller area of binding (Fig. 6.8). This groove binds to the smaller cluster of the basic bipartite NLS residue and also to the monopartite NLS. Interaction between Asn, Trp, and acidic amino acids of imp α with the basic ones of the NLS leads to this attachment (Fig. 6.8), and various sets of electrostatic, hydrophobic, and hydrogen bonds give rise to a firm imp α –NLS attachment (Fontes et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2010).

The IBB domain has autoinhibitory characteristic, meaning that it competes with the NLS to attach to imp α , and this is a result of resemblance of the NLS and the IBB domain amino acids. Typically, affinity of imp α to the NLS is higher than its affinity to IBB domain; however, when the IBB is



Figure 6.8 NLS-imp α complex: the concave inner part of imp α has two binding sites for NLSs. The first one is a major groove, which prepares a larger area of binding between Arm repeats 2 and 4, and is closer to the imp α N-terminus. The major groove attaches to the monopartite NLS (bottom) and the larger basic cluster of the bipartite NLS (top). The second bond is the minor groove, located between Arm repeats 7 and 8, making a smaller area of binding. This groove binds to the smaller cluster of the basic bipartite NLS residue and also monopartite NLS. Interaction of Asn, Trp, and acidic amino acids of imp α with the basic ones of NLS causes this attachment. Various sets of electrostatic, hydrophobic, and hydrogen bonds give rise to a firm imp α -NLS attachment (Fontes et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2010).

attached to imp β , the NLS bond to imp α is stronger and no autoinhibitory activity exists in the IBB domain. Interestingly, NLS affinity remains unchanged for imp α without the IBB domain and imp α bound to imp β (~10 nM). It seems that the entrance rate of cargos into the nucleus is correlated with NLS–imp α bond strength (Catimel et al., 2001; Fanara et al., 2000; Lange et al., 2007; Stewart, 2007; Zilman et al., 2007). Imp α has a homolog structure in mouse and yeast, and as there are different NLS types working in cells, the NLS recognition mechanisms should have been conserved (Conti and Kuriyan, 2000). Despite the important role of the IBB domain in the formation of imp β imp α -NLS complex, some cargos carrying ncNLSs simply bind to imp β directly. These cargos, equipped with ncNLS motifs, resemble the IBB domain. For example, the structure of HIV-1, Rev, and Tat proteins includes Arg motifs that shape a helical secondary structure and imitate the IBB domain function (Truant and Cullen, 1999). It is yet to be determined if imp β includes a secondary binding site (other than the domain bound to the IBB) for imp α -independent cargos, or if an imp β -targeting NLS facilitates forming a direct bond to imp β (Cingolani et al., 2002).

2.2. Transport of cargo complex across the channel

After the cargo–carrier complex is formed, it passes across the NPC channel. During the passage, FG–Nups, which are speculated to occlude the central channel, interact weakly with imp β (Fig. 6.9). This interaction with μ M-range affinity is the key corner stone for the selective transport. Each FG-Nup is composed of 20–30 FG-rich domains, such as FG, GLFG, FxFG (where x could be any amino acid) (Fig. 6.9; Frey and Gorlich, 2007, 2009). In fact, FxFG repeats are separated from each other by Thr- and Ser-rich spacer sequences; however, spacer sequences between GLFG repeats have



Figure 6.9 FG-Nups: after the cargo–carrier complex is formed, it passes through the NPC. During the passage, FG-Nups, which are speculated to occlude the central channel, interact weakly with imp- β . Each FG-Nup is composed of 20–30 FG-rich domains, such as FG, GIFG, FxFG (x could be any amino acid), and so on (Frey and Gorlich, 2007, 2009). FG-Nups hold hydrophobic interactions on the convex face of imp β . These Nups bind imp β somewhere between HEAT repeats 5 and 7 (Bayliss et al., 2002). Also, another binding site has been recognized on HEAT14-16 of importin- β .

abundant amounts of Gln and Asn and no acidic residues are observed in these sequences (Terry and Wente, 2009). GLFG and FxFG Nups bind to overlapping sites on Imp β , somewhere between HEAT repeats 5 and 7 (Fig. 6.9; Bayliss et al., 2002). FG-Nups are distributed over the internal face of the central channel as well as nuclear and cytoplasmic sides of the NPC. FG domains of these Nups have flexible structures, and some of them, such as Nup153 and Nup214, are even able to move from one side of the channel all the way to the other side of the channel (Paulillo et al., 2006). On average, 3500 FG repeats exist per NPC (Miao and Schulten, 2009; Strawn et al., 2004).

It is reported that removing up to 50% of FG motifs does not significantly affect the transport process or cell life. However, removing specific FG motifs, such as those in Nup116 (Fig. 6.2), would be fatal to the cell (Stewart, 2007; Strawn et al., 2004). Generally, removing the symmetricabout-NE-planar-axis FG-Nups does have a significant effect on transport. This is because certain combinations of FG domains of symmetric FG-Nups, especially GLFGs, are critical to transport. However, some types of transport processes remain unchanged even after removal of the symmetric FG-Nups, which clearly proves distinct transport pathways exist for different carriers (Strawn et al., 2004; Zeitler and Weis, 2004). Experimental studies and simulations show an attachment between imp β and Nups occurs via some hydrophobic binding spots, meaning that FG-Nups hold hydrophobic interactions on the convex face of $imp\beta$ (Fig. 6.9). During the primary interaction, the hydrophobic side chain of Phe in GLFG and FxFG domains penetrates the hydrophobic pocket of $imp\beta$ involving HEAT repeats 5-7. Additionally, another FG-Nup binding site has been recognized on HEAT repeats 14–16 of impβ (Bednenko et al., 2003a; Zeitler and Weis, 2004). Experiments show that bonds between FG domains and transporters are sensitive to the number of FG motifs and amino acids located right after them. In other words, the tendency of each FG-Nup to interact with a carrier protein depends on how many FG repeats exist in its proximity, while interaction strength might be modulated by the linkers between the consecutive FG-Nups (Patel and Rexach, 2008; Stewart, 2007). It turns out that Phe located in FG motifs plays the major role in making the connection between $imp\beta$ and FG repeats. Substituting Phe on an FG motif with Ser or Ala residues prevents the transport from happening, and replacing Phe with aromatic Tyr or Trp residues reduces the binding strength. The amino acid that plays the central role in GLFG sequence is Leu. This amino acid is not present in the hydrophobic pocket of imp β ; rather by protecting Phe from the solvent, it appears to affect the stability of the imp β -Nup bond (Patel and Rexach, 2008). It is hypothesized that some pockets on $imp\beta$ have similar affinities to FG-Nups, even though affinities of other sites are different. Experiments illustrate a positive affinity gradient of Nups to imp β from the cytoplasmic to the nuclear side of the NPC (Ben-Efraim and Gerace, 2001; Ben-Efraim et al., 2009). For instance, the affinity of imp β for Nup153 on the nuclear side is 20 times stronger than that of Nup358 on the cytoplasmic side (Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2003). This characteristic makes the entering complex travel from low-affinity Nups to middle-affinity and finally to high-affinity ones unidirectionally, and this, as a result, enhances the transport efficiency (Ben-Efraim and Gerace, 2001). Recently, evidence confirming that the IBB domain modulates the avidity of imp β to Nups in the NPC channel was provided (Lott et al., 2010). Additionally, the bond between the RanGTP molecule and imp β in the nucleoplasm affects binding pockets on imp β , reducing the affinity of imp β to FG-Nups (Otsuka et al., 2008).

Other reports about distribution of transporter binding sites in the NPC suggest that attachment of transporters is localized around the channel entrance, though others reported a uniform distribution of transporter binding sites along the channel length (Fiserova and Goldberg, 2010; Kahms et al., 2009). In addition to known hydrophobic interactions between transporters and FG-Nups, more recent data suggest that electrostatic interaction between the transport receptors, which are highly negatively charged, and NPC compounds, which are positively charged, facilitates the selective transport across the NPC (Colwell et al., 2010).

2.3. Cargo complex dissociation

2.3.1. Nup50

Nup50 and its yeast homolog, Nup2p, are located on the nuclear basket (Fig. 6.2). These Nups are able to detach from the nuclear basket and shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm (Dilworth et al., 2001; Ogawa et al., 2010). Nup50 (Nup2p) is composed of an N-terminus domain, FG repeats, and a C-terminus domain (Fig. 6.10). Its N-terminus domain has affinity to the impa C-terminus and its NLS-binding site, and the FG repeat domain of this Nup, like other FG-Nups, has affinity to $imp\beta$ (Fig. 6.10). The C-terminal domain contains a Ran-binding domain (RBD), having a weak affinity for RanGTP on the order of micromolar. Structural traits of these Nups give rise to a higher tendency of cargo-carrier complexes binding to them, more than any other nuclear basket Nup. These Nups increase the density of carriers in the proximity of their sites on the nuclear basket, thereby boost the probability of impacts needed for assembly/disassembly interactions. Hence, these Nups provide appropriate disassembly sites for imported complexes as well as assembly sites for exported cargos (Denning et al., 2002; Matsuura and Stewart, 2005; Matsuura et al., 2003; Swaminathan and Melchior, 2002).

Other Nups are also reported to mediate disassembly of imported cargos. For instance, Nup153, located on the nuclear ring, is capable of binding to RanGTP, via its Zinc Finger, and increasing RanGTP concentration in its



Figure 6.10 When the cargo complex enters the nucleocytoplasmic part and is bound to the Nup50 (Nup2p) FG repeat, the weak bond between RanGTP and Nup50 (Nup2p) breaks apart, releasing RanGTP to attach to imp β (Gilchrist and Rexach, 2003). Nup50 (Nup2p) primarily binds to the imp α C-terminus with a high affinity. Following that, through a mechanism similar to that of IBB, it breaks the bond between NLS and imp α , and finally, NLS detaches from imp α , and Nup50 (Nup2p) substitutes it. Once the disassembly process takes place, imp β through binding to RanGTP easily recycles back to the cytoplasm, while imp α requires another molecule termed CAS to exit (Cse1p). After Nup50 is bound to imp α and NLS is detached from imp α , CAS, which is attached to RanGTP, detaches Nup50 (Nup2p) from the imp α C-terminus. Upon breakage of Nup50 (Nup2p), the IBB domain occupies the second binding site of Nup50 (Nup2p) to imp α , which has lower affinity to imp α , and is the NLS binding site. This is required to form the CAS–RanGTP–imp α complex, and ultimately, Nup50 (Nup2p) detaches from the complex.

propinquity. As a result, Nup153 enhances impact probability of RanGTP and entering cargo complexes, and thereby it is highly involved in the cargo complex dissociation process (Schrader et al., 2008).

2.3.2. Ran

Ran is a 24-kDa member of the RAS family GTPase. Members of this family could attach either to GTP (guanosine-5'-triphosphate) or GDP (guanosine-5'-diphosphate). Ran has a core or G domain (guanine nucleotidebinding domain) including a p-loop, Switch I and II, and a 40-amino acid C-terminal extension (conserved across all Ran orthologs) consisting of a linker, an α -helix, and an acidic tail (DEDDDL) (Fig. 6.11).



Figure 6.11 Ran: the overall structure of Ran remains somehow unchanged when it attaches to GTP or GDP, except in Switch I and II regions. In addition, the Ran C-terminus remodels upon its attachment to a nucleotide. The Ran C-terminus is disordered in the RanGTP complex (right) and is extended away from the complex core, whereas this extended portion touches the core in RanGDP at a few locations (left) (Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2003; Lui and Huang, 2009; Rush et al., 1996; Scheffzek et al., 1995; Yudin and Fainzilber, 2009).

The overall structure of Ran remains almost unchanged when it attaches to GTP or GDP, except in Switch I and II regions, and in addition, the Ran C-terminus remodels upon its attachment to a nucleotide (Fig. 6.11). The Ran C-terminus is disordered in the RanGTP complex and is extended away from the complex core, whereas this extension touches the core in the RanGDP structure (Fig. 6.11; Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2003; Lui and Huang, 2009; Neuwald et al., 2003; Rush et al., 1996; Scheffzek et al., 1995; Yudin and Fainzilber, 2009). This helical conformation obstructs the RanGDPkaryopherin attachment, while RanGTP is capable of binding to karyopherin members like imp β . Interestingly, it has been shown recently that kap95p and RanGDP are able to form a stable complex, which is capable of being unbound by imp α . In kap95p–RanGDP complex, kap95p induces a conformational change in the RanGDP Switch I and II that makes conformation of these switches resemble those of RanGTP (Forwood et al., 2008).

2.3.3. Interactions that lead to the cargo complex disassembly

Disassembly of an entering complex could occur independent of Nup50 (Nup2p) presence. When a cargo complex enters the nucleoplasm, RanGTP can directly interact with imp β in absence of Nup50 (Nup2p). Such attachments release other factors in the complex of imp β via a conformational change. In other words, attachment of RanGTP to imp β induces a conformational change in imp β that unbinds its other partners

from it. Hence, the RanGTP–imp β bond is necessary to detach cargo– imp α complex from imp β . The interaction between RanGTP and imp β occurs in three regions: at the first site, Switch II loop of RanGTP attaches to CRIME motif (CRM1, imp β , etc.), located in the imp β N-terminus on HEAT repeats 1–4 (Fig. 6.12). This bond exists in all members of the karyopherin family, as this site is similar in imp β , transportin, and Cse1p. At the second site, a basic part on the surface of the RanGTP G domain holds an electrostatic interaction with amino acids of the HEAT repeat 8 acidic loop in imp β (Fig. 6.12), thereby releases the IBB domain from the imp β HEAT repeat 8 region. Finally, at the third site, the Switch I loop and some parts of the amino acids of the RanGTP core interact with HEAT repeats and residues 12–15 on imp β . This local attachment is required to change the conformation, increase the helical pitch in the imp β , and eventually, detach the IBB domain.

It seems that Lys37 and Lys152 on RanGTP interact with the HEAT repeat 14 via electrostatic bonds. Mutations in Lys37 or Lys152 prevent the conformational change, thus obstruct the IBB detachment. Hydrogen bonds also have been observed in this site between Arg29, Arg154, and Arg156 on Ran and imp β amino acids. Also, evidence shows Phe35 and



Figure 6.12 Importin- β -RanGTP complex: the interaction between RanGTP and imp β occurs in three regions: at the first site, the Switch II loop of RanGTP attaches to amino acids located in the imp β N-terminus on HEAT repeats 1–4. At the second site, the basic part on the surface of the RanGTP G domain holds an electrostatic interaction with amino acids of the HEAT repeat 8 acidic loop in imp β thereby, releasing the imp β IBB domain on the HEAT8 region. Finally, at the third site, the Switch I loop and some parts of the amino acids of RanGTP core interact with residues of HEAT repeats 12–15 on imp β . This local attachment is required to change the conformation, increase the helical pitch in the imp β , and eventually detach the IBB domain.

Phe157 amino acids hide together with imp β Phe613 and Leu563. Once imp β -RanGTP bond is formed, this complex is recycled back to the cytoplasm.

When the cargo–imp α complex dissociates from imp β , the IBB domain is released and competes with the NLS for attachment to the binding site on imp α through an autoinhibitory mechanism. It reduces the NLS–imp α bond strength and eventually detaches the NLS. Following that, imp α and imp β are exported to the cytoplasm separately from one another (Cook et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2005; Stewart, 2006, 2007; Xu and Massagué, 2004). Nevertheless, the NLS–imp α bond has a high affinity of around 10 nM and is not easy to break apart, although Nup50 (Nup2p) helps alleviate this process (Fig. 6.10). In Nup50-dependent disassembly, when the imported cargo complex enters the nucleocytoplasmic part and is bound to a Nup FG repeat, the weak bond between RanGTP and Nup50 (Nup2p), which has a high dissociation rate (K_{off}), breaks apart, releasing RanGTP to let it attach to imp β (Fig. 6.10) (Gilchrist and Rexach, 2003). This newly formed complex detaches from the entering complex and is exported to the cytoplasm.

Kinetic studies indicate that Nup50 (Nup2p) in addition to increasing RanGTP and cellular apoptosis susceptibility (CAS) protein concentration in the nuclear basket causes active detachment of the NLS from $imp\alpha$ (Fig. 6.10). Nup50 (Nup2p) primarily binds to the imp α C-terminus with a high affinity. Following that, using a mechanism similar to that of the IBB, it breaks the bond between the NLS and $imp\alpha$, and finally, NLS detaches from impa and Nup50 (Nup2p) substitutes it (Fig. 6.10). Nup50 (Nup2p)imp α affinity at this binding site is higher than the affinity at the imp α . Moreover, these Nups bind to $imp\alpha$ with higher affinities than do NLSs, through their electrostatic, hydrophobic, and hydrogen bonds. The Nup2p N-terminus attaches to kap60p without IBB with an affinity of about 2.4 nM, while the NLS attaches to the kap60p without IBB domain with an affinity of approximately 10-30 nM, resulting in kap60p binding more firmly to Nup2p than it is doing to the NLS. Presence of Nup50 increases the NLS dissociation rate from $imp\alpha$ by an order of magnitude relative to the spontaneous NLS dissociation rate in the absence of Nup50. The Nup50-dependent pathway is crucial for the detachment of the bipartite NLS as the IBB is not able to conduct this process on its own.

In general, Nup50 facilitates the NLS detachment in two ways: Nup50 is able to interact with imported imp α -imp β -NLS complex and once the NLS is released, RanGTP detaches imp β from the complex. At the end, RanGTP-CAS complex releases Nup50 and recycles imp α back to the cytoplasm. The alternate way to expedite the NLS detachment reaction is Nup50 coming into play immediately after imp β is detached by RanGTP (Matsuura and Stewart, 2005; Matsuura et al., 2003; Moore, 2003; Sun et al., 2008).

Since Nup50 structure is capable of binding to $imp\alpha$, $imp\beta$, and RanGTP, and it is a dynamic protein, a model based upon the presence of Nup50 as an entering complex has also been suggested. In this model, Nup50 is able to bind to both imp α (attached to the NLS) and imp β in the cytoplasm and thereby increases assembly of the entering quadruple complex. This complex passes across the central channel and enters the nuclear basket, where binding of RanGTP to Nup50 initiates a complex disassembly process, and eventually, two triple complexes, i.e. Nup50-RanGTPimp β and imp α -CAS-RanGTP, are formed and transported back to the cytoplasm (Moore, 2003; Swaminathan and Melchior, 2002). It has been discovered recently that two Nup50 isoforms, called Npap60s and Npap60l, regulate nuclear import of proteins. In other words, alterations in the expression level of these two Nups, which act in opposite ways to release the NLS in the nuclear basket, control efficiency of the nuclear import. This phenomenon confirms the role of Nups in regulating the import efficiency (Ogawa et al., 2010).

2.4. Karyopherin recycling

Once the disassembly process takes place imp β easily recycles back to the cytoplasm via binding to RanGTP; however, imp α requires a CAS molecule to exit the nucleus (Fig. 6.10). After Nup50 is bound to imp α and the NLS is detached from imp α , CAS (Cse1p), which is attached to RanGTP, detaches Nup50 (Nup2p) from the imp α C-terminus (Fig. 6.10). Upon breakage of Nup50 (Nup2p) strong bonds, the IBB domain occupies the second binding site of Nup50 (Nup2p) to imp α , which has lower affinity to imp α and in fact is the NLS binding site. This is required to form the CAS-RanGTP-imp α complex (Fig. 6.13), and ultimately, Nup50 (Nup2p) detaches from this complex. Nup50 (Nup2p) attachment to imp α , its detachment by CAS (Cse1p), and the strong binding of CAS to imp α guarantee that imp α returns to the cytoplasm only after cargo is already released (Matsuura and Stewart, 2004, 2005).

2.4.1. CAS (Cse1p)

Cse1p is made up of 20 HEAT repeats that are stacked up. HEAT repeat motifs of CAS (Cse1p) are composed of 40 amino acids. These HEAT repeats comprise two antiparallel α -helices called A and B, shaping up the internal and external faces of Cse1p, respectively. A and B helices are connected by a tiny loop in all HEAT repeats except in the HEAT repeat 19 helices, where they are connected by a long loop. Also, in HEAT repeat 8 helices, an intrarepeat connection replaces the tiny connection loop. Not only does RanGTP cause dissociation of importins and their partners in the nucleus, but also it mediates the CAS attachment to imp α . Therefore, these



Figure 6.13 Cse1p–kap60p–RanGTP complex: when kap60p is absent RanGTP only possesses a single binding site on Cse1p (its HEAT 1–3) through Arg76 and Asp77 on the Switch II loop. In presence of kap60p, Cse1p distorts and RanGTP binds to the second binding site on Cse1p, i.e. HEAT 13–14 and the long loop of HEAT 19 via its Lys37 on the Switch I loop and Lys152, which strengthens the RanGTP–Cse1p bond. Hence, in Cse1p, Ran is located around the center, surrounded from two sides by archlike structures of HEAT repeats 1–3 and HEAT repeats 13–14, and it interacts with HEAT19. Other than being a mere binding site, HEAT19 acts to prevent detachment of guanine nucleotide. Upon the binding of kap60p to the Cse1p–RanGTP complex the IBB N-terminus interacts with Cse1p HEAT 2–4 and so does a tiny portion of the IBB middle part with the HEAT 5–7 external surface. This way, IBB is engaged in forming the kap60p–RanGTP–Cse1p triple complex. Moreover, the only part of Cse1p that is forming bonds with both RanGTP and kap60p in the Cse1p–RanGTP complex is HEAT 19.

processes orchestrate an on-time association/dissociation via regulating the affinity of imp β and CAS to their partners (Matsuura and Stewart, 2004; Zachariae and Grubmüller, 2006).

2.4.2. Interactions forming a recycling complex

When kap60p is absent RanGTP possesses a single binding site on Cse1p (its HEAT 1-3) through Arg76 and Asp77 on the Switch II loop. In presence of kap60p, Cse1p distorts and RanGTP binds to the second binding site on Cse1p, i.e. HEAT repeats 13–14 and the long loop of the HEAT repeat 19, via its Lys37 on the Switch I loop and Lys152, and this strengthens the RanGTP-Cse1p bond (Fig. 6.13). Hence, in Cse1p, Ran is located around the center surrounded from two sides by arch-like structures of HEAT repeats 1-3 and HEAT repeats 13-14, and it interacts with the HEAT repeat 19 (Fig. 6.13). In addition to being a binding site, HEAT repeat 19 acts to prevent detachment of guanine nucleotide. Upon the binding of kap60p to the Cse1p-RanGTP complex, the IBB N-terminus interacts with Cse1p HEAT repeats 2-4 and so does a tiny portion of the IBB central region with the HEAT repeats 5-7 external surface, this way IBB is engaged in forming the kap60p-RanGTP-Cse1p triple complex (Fig. 6.13). Moreover, the kap60p C-terminus is involved in an interaction with Cse1p and RanGTP, and the only part of Cse1p engaged in bonds with both RanGTP and kap60p in the Cse1p-RanGTP complex is HEAT repeat 19 (Fig. 6.13). RanGTP amino acids Arg95, Lys99, Lus130, and Lys134 are essential to its interaction with kap60p (Matsuura and Stewart, 2004). When Ran is absent because of ineffectiveness of collisions, no bonds form during the CAS interaction with $imp\alpha$.

CAS has a closed conformation in its free state and a decreased helical pitch as opposed to imp β (Fig. 6.14). CAS takes on an open conformation when it connects to a cargo, and this conformational change (open-toclosed) is caused by bonds forming between CAS N-terminus residues and a region close to its C-terminus and central region (Fig. 6.14; Conti et al., 2006; Stewart, 2006). Molecular dynamics (MD) simulations indicate that the Cse1 structure collapses spontaneously via electrostatic interactions during extremely short-time scales (10 ns), forming a close cytoplasmic structure. Moreover, MD studies conducted on mutations of these electrostatic interactions revealed their significance in triggering a conformational change from open to closed (Zachariae and Grubmüller, 2006). During the bonding process, the HEAT repeat 14 moves along relative to HEAT repeats 1-3, forming a cluster of acidic residues of Glu652, Asp653, and Glu656 on HEAT repeat 14 with a charged chain of Lys21, Lys30, Arg25, and Arg28 on HEAT repeats 1-2. Moreover, HEAT repeats 2-3 loop amino acids (i.e., Glu72 and Asp71) hold an electrostatic interaction with HEAT repeats 15-16 amino acids (i.e., Arg728 and Lys695, Lys733). Simulations suggest CAS conformational closing occurs as a result of formation of an interaction between HEAT repeats 1 and 3 and HEAT repeats 14 and 17 residues after they move toward each other (Fig. 6.14; Zachariae and Grubmüller, 2006). Altogether with some other polar interactions, these bonds hide the Ran-binding site considerably. The HEAT repeat 19



Figure 6.14 CAS (Cse1p) conformation: CAS has a closed conformation in free state and a decreased helical pitch as opposed to $imp\beta$. It (the transparent one) opens up its conformation when it connects to a cargo. The conformational change (open-toclosed) is caused by bonds between CAS N-terminus residues and a region close to the C-terminus and the center. During the bonding process, HEAT repeat 14 moves along relative to HEAT repeats 1–3, forming a cluster of acidic residues on HEAT repeat 14 with a charged chain on HEAT repeats 1–2. Moreover, HEAT repeats 2–3 loop amino acids hold an electrostatic interaction with HEAT repeats 15–16 amino acids. HEAT repeat 19 loop, which mediates the attachment of $imp\alpha$ and RanGTP to CAS while forming free CAS, changes its conformation as a result of its clash with the N-terminus so that protease could affect it and cut it off, and hence, free CAS lacks HEAT repeat 19 loop. In closed-to-open conformational change, the most important rearrangement region is located on HEAT repeat 8. This HEAT repeat is in fact a hinge region, and having a conserved insertion, it acts like a switch. It causes conformational opening by allowing the interaction between RanGTP, imp α , and CAS to occur.

loop, which mediates the attachment of imp α and RanGTP to CAS while forming free CAS, changes its conformation as a result of its clash with the N-terminus so that protease could affect it and cut it off, and hence, the free CAS lacks the HEAT repeat 19 loop (Fig. 6.14). This conformational change is a regulatory mechanism to prevent imp α from binding to CAS at a wrong time and keeps CAS and imp α bound to each other in the nucleus. In the closed-to-open conformational change, the most important rearrangement region is located on HEAT repeat 8 (Fig. 6.14). This HEAT repeat is in fact a hinge region and having a conserved insertion, it acts like a switch. It causes a conformational opening by allowing the interaction between RanGTP, imp α , and CAS to occur. In the closed conformation, the imp α binding site is rearranged and RanGTP is closed. During the closed-to-open conformational change a movement around the hinge zone (i.e., the HEAT repeat 8) exposes some of the binding sites of RanGTP on HEAT repeat 19 of CAS to an interaction. This enables imp α to gain access to some binding sites, especially the CAS N-terminus. After the imp α -RanGTP-CAS complex forms, it is transported to the cytoplasm. In this pathway, the complex is propelled in channel by hydrophobic interactions of FG-Nups with CAS. Once it reaches the cytoplasm, the complex attaches to RanBP1 or RanBP2, RanGAP (these proteins will be explained in Section 2.5), catalyzes the hydrolysis of RanGTP, and in the end, the complex disassembles, separating imp α and CAS from each other and preparing them for the next transport cycle (Zachariae and Grubmüller, 2006). In addition to these models, single molecule fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) studies showed that imp α -cargo complex disassembly takes place in the NPC channel in presence of CAS and RanGTP, and afterward, most of the dissociated molecules penetrate the nucleus while nondissociated complexes return to the cytoplasm (Sun et al., 2008).

2.5. Ran cycle

Ran and its regulators are key components of the nucleocytoplasmic pathway and most of other vital pathways of the cell, such as RNA synthesis, mitosis, etc. This small molecule exists in both import and export pathways and indeed, it determines the transport direction. In the nucleus, RanGTP substitutes RanGDP and travels back to the cytoplasm by attaching to the export complex. In the cytoplasm, however, RanGTP is hydrolyzed, providing RanGDP again for further use. The rate of Ran export from the nucleus is extraordinarily high (10⁵ copies per second) (Batrakou et al., 2009; Lui and Huang, 2009; Yasuhara et al., 2009; Yudin and Fainzilber, 2009). In fact, RanGTP (active form of Ran) is a nucleocytoplasmic pathway controller and its nuclear concentration is higher than that of RanGDP (inactive form of Ran), as opposed to its cytoplasmic concentration. This concentration gradient provides the energy required to regulate and direct transport (GoErlich et al., 2003). In vitro studies confirmed that reversing the RanGTP concentration gradient leads to a reversal in the transport direction. Thus, it could be stated that the RanGTP/RanGDP gradient controls the transport direction and it provides a driving force for transport across the NPC (GoÈrlich et al., 2003).

RanGAP (Ran GTPase activating protein) and RanGEF (Ran guanine nucleotide exchange factor) mediate the formation of a vital switch between RanGTP and RanGDP. In the cytoplasm, RanGAP catalyzes hydrolysis of GTP, which exists in RanGTP along with RanBP1 or RanBP2 factors and finally, produces RanGDP via imposing conformational changes to Ran (Figs. 6.15 and 6.16). In the nucleus, RanGEF with intervention of RanBP3 separates GDP nucleotide from Ran. It stabilizes the Ran and eventually replaces GDP with GTP and thereby causes RanGTP to accumulate in the nucleus via RanGEF (Fig. 6.19). There are approximately 3×10^5 RanGAP copies and almost the same number of Rcc1 (regulator of



Figure 6.15 RanBP1–RanGTP–RanGAP complex: in this complex, RanGAP and RanBP1 bind to opposite sides of Ran resulting in no interaction between these two agents, plus RanGAP is located on the edge of RanGTP. Therefore, RanBP1 excites RanGAP indirectly by affecting Ran. The Ran acidic C-terminal extension wraps around the basic RanBD patch. The acidic hand on the RanBD N-terminus stretches across to attach to the basic patch on Ran. Hence, the body of the RanBD is held closely against the switch I region and against other residues in the C-terminal half of the Ran protein (Bischoff and Gorlich, 1997; Lounsbury and Macara, 1997; Saric et al., 2007; Seewald et al., 2003). RanGTP holds electrostatic interactions with residues of seven Leu-rich repeats (LRR) of RanGAP. A grown loop in the third LRR acts as a footrest, stabilizing the Switch II region of Ran. RanGAP stimulates RanGTPase activity by stabilizing the Switch II and correcting orientation of catalytic glutamine of Ran. In fact, when RanGAP touches the Ran Switch II and p-loop, it induces an alteration in orientation of one of their amino acids, i.e. Gln69 (Cook et al., 2007; Madrid and Weis, 2006; Seewald et al., 2002).

chromosome condensation1: mammalian RanGEF) copies in a single cell, hence, the hydrolysis capacity of GTP is balanced with its exchange capacity (Bos et al., 2007; Lui and Huang, 2009; Macara, 2001; Nishimoto, 2000; Rush et al., 1996).



Figure 6.16 In the triple RanBD–RanGTP–imp β complex, the extension of the Ran C-terminus in the karyopherin-RanGTP complex suggests that RanBD is able to access the Ran C-terminus. The Ran acidic C-terminal extension with the DEDDDL motif wraps around the basic RanBD patch. Upon the binding of RanBD to the imp β -RanGTP complex, clash of RanBD to imp β (sterical hindrance) facilitates imp β detachment, and it eventually dissociates in the presence of $imp\alpha$. Afterward, the acidic hand on the RanBD N-terminus stretches across to attach to the basic patch on Ran. This interaction obstructs rebinding of imp β to the RanBD–RanGTP complex and is essential for the detachment to occur. Hence, RanBD is held closely against the Switch I region and against other residues in the C-terminal portion of the Ran protein. At this time, RanGAP comes into play and provokes RanGTP hydrolysis by binding to the RanBD-RanGTP complex. The RanBD connection to the Ran-importin complex pulls the Ran C-terminus aside, facilitating the RanGAP attachment to RanGTP (Bischoff and Gorlich, 1997; Lounsbury and Macara, 1997; Petersen et al., 2000; Saric et al., 2007; Seewald et al., 2002, 2003). So, is RanGAP able to interact with RanGTP, forming a quadruple complex along with RanBD and imp β , or is imp β released first and then RanGAP fulfills its job? (Melchior and Gerace, 1998).

2.5.1. Ran's GTP hydrolysis

The hydrolysis rate of RanGTP with Ran is low ($k_{cat} = 1.8 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$). However, RanGAP increases this rate up to $k_{cat} = 2-10 \text{ s}^{-1}$. Hence, RanGAP is able to increase the RanGTP hydrolysis rate by as much as 10^5 -fold up to 5 RanGTP/Sec. RanGAP is composed of a symmetric structure of 11 Leu-rich repeats (LRR) (Fig. 6.15). This crescent-like structure is a compound of a number of helices and hairpins. RanGAPs of different species share the same catalytic N-terminal domain. Further, the RanGAP C-terminus, which has 230 amino acids, is conserved among some species of eukaryotes (Fig. 6.15). In budding yeast, the RanGAP NLS and NESs facilitate its transport into and out of the nucleus. In vertebrates, SUMO modification (a polypeptide dependent on ubiquitin) occurs on the RanGAP C-terminus covalently. This increases the tendency of RanGAP to interact with RanBP2/Nup358 which is a component of cytoplasmic fibrils (Fig. 6.2), and this finally expedites the hydrolysis rate. In fact, Nup358 modifies RanGAP through the activity of its Sumo E3 ligase, while RanGAP diffuses in the yeast cytoplasm, since it lacks a RanBP2/Nup358 homolog (Seewald et al., 2002).

Recent works also indicate that Nup358–RanGAP complex plays a crucial role in imp α/β -dependent nuclear import and disassembly of the export complex. Generally speaking, two pathways are proposed in this regard. The first one suggests disassembly of the RanGTP–imp β complex, which has entered the cytoplasm from the nucleus, and the formation of a new imp β –imp α –NLS imported complex by mediation of soluble Ran-GAP and RanBP1 (Fig. 6.19). The second pathway is based on the interaction of recycled-to-the-cytoplasm RanGTP–imp β with Nup358/RanBP2, which is in contact with RanGAP. Following this event, RanGTP is hydrolyzed and a new entering complex is formed through the attachment of imp α and NLS (Fig. 6.19; Hutten et al., 2008; Nishimoto, 2000).

In fact, RanGTP should be protected against GTP hydrolysis caused by RanGAP and against the exchange caused by Rcc1, and this task is performed by karyopherins. Basically, karyopherins when bound to RanGTP block the access of RanGAP to the RanGTP Switch II (Figs. 6.15 and 6.16), and this prevents RanGAP from binding to RanGTP while it is carrying a karyopherin. Instead, RanBP2 or RanBP1 is able to bind to Ran in this case. In vertebrates, interactions of importin with Nup358/RanBP2 increase off rate of RanGTP from importins. RanBP2 has four RanBDs (Ran-binding domains), and structural investigations of RanGTP while bound to the first and second RanBD of RanBP2 showed RanBD has a Pleckstrin Homology fold domain (PH domain), which stretches up to the RanGTP C-terminus wraps around RanBD and these factors cooperate to hydrolyze RanGTP to RanGDP in the cytoplasm (Geyer et al., 2005; Petersen et al., 2000).

RanBP1 is a 23-kDa protein factor equipped with RanBD (Fig. 6.15). RanBD binds to RanGTP with a high affinity, increasing the activity of RanGAP to hydrolyze GTP by 10-fold (Madrid and Weis, 2006; Seewald et al., 2003). In the triple RanBD–RanGTP–imp β complex, the RanBD binding site on RanGTP does not overlap with the imp β binding site on RanGTP. Also, the extension of the Ran C-terminus in the karyopherin– RanGTP complex suggests that RanBD is able to access the Ran C-terminus. The Ran acidic C-terminal extension with the DEDDDL motif wraps around the basic RanBD patch (Fig. 6.16). Upon the binding of RanBD to the imp β –RanGTP complex, collisions of RanBD to imp β (sterical hindrance) facilitate imp β detachment and it eventually dissociates in the presence of imp α (Fig. 6.16). Afterward, the acidic hand on the N-terminus of RanBD stretches across to attach to the basic patch on Ran. This interaction obstructs rebinding of imp β to the RanBD–RanGTP complex and is essential for the detachment to occur (Fig. 6.16). Hence, RanBD is held closely against the Switch I region and against other residues in the C-terminal portion of the Ran protein. At this time, RanGAP comes into play and excites RanGTP hydrolysis by binding to the RanBD–RanGTP complex (Fig. 6.16). The RanBD connection to the Ran–importin complex pulls the C-terminus of Ran aside, facilitating the RanGAP attachment to RanGTP (Bischoff and Gorlich, 1997; Lounsbury and Macara, 1997; Petersen et al., 2000; Saric et al., 2007; Seewald et al., 2002, 2003). So, is RanGAP able to interact with RanGTP, forming a quadruple complex along with RanBD and imp β , or is imp β released first and followed by that RanGAP fulfills its task? This question calls for further investigation through this intricate biochemical machine (Melchior and Gerace, 1998).

In the CAS-impα-RanGTP complex exiting the nucleus, the RanBD-RanGTP connection causes the detachment of CAS from RanGTP and the binding of RanGAP to the complex (Bischoff and Gorlich, 1997). In the RanBP1–RanGTP–RanGAP complex (Fig. 6.15), RanGAP and RanBP1 bind to opposite sides of Ran which results in no interaction between these two agents; moreover, RanGAP is located on the edge of RanGTP. Therefore, RanBP1 excites RanGAP indirectly by affecting Ran. RanGTP holds electrostatic interactions with residues of seven Leu-rich repeats (LRR) of RanGAP. A grown loop in the third LRR acts as a footrest, stabilizing the Switch II region of Ran (Fig. 6.15). In other small GTPases, GAP-assisted GTP hydrolysis is mediated by an Arg residue of GAP, while the Arg finger is not observed in the RanGTP-RanBP1-RanGAP complex. RanGAP stimulates RanGTPase activity through stabilizing the Switch II and correcting orientation of catalytic glutamine of Ran. In fact, when RanGAP touches the Ran Switch II and p-loop, it induces an alteration in orientation of one of their amino acids, i.e. Gln69. A mutation in Gln69 reduces the RanGAP activity thus, declines the GTP hydrolysis rate in RanGTP (Fig. 6.15) (Cook et al., 2007; Madrid and Weis, 2006; Seewald et al., 2002). It is known that in the nucleus, Tyr39 on Ran holds Gln69 of Ran, protecting this amino acid from water molecule invasion. Conversely, in the cytoplasm, Asn133 of RanGAP interacts with Gln69 of Ran thereby, enables the correct position and water invasion via displacing Tyr39 (Brucker et al., 2010).

2.5.2. NTF2

Nuclear transport factor2 (NTF2) is a dedicated carrier for RanGDP shuttling back and forth from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. NTF2 is a barrel-like homodimer that is conserved among all eukaryotes and has two hydrophobic pockets. RanGDP can attach to these pockets with its Switch I and Switch II, in a large contact interface. During its transport through the



Figure 6.17 NTF2 (lighter color) is a homodimer molecule that has two hydrophobic pockets. RanGDP can attach to these pockets with its Switch I and Switch II, in a large contact interface. During its transport through the NPC, NTF2 interacts with FG repeats via its hydrophobic end. These FG repeats bind to two symmetric hydrophobic binding sites on the interface of the two dimmers (Madrid and Weis, 2006).

NPC, NTF2 interacts with FG repeats from its hydrophobic end. FG repeats bind to two symmetric hydrophobic binding sites on the interface of the two dimmers (Madrid and Weis, 2006). However, simulations identify six adjacent binding spots for FG repeats on NTF2 import and export complexes (Fig. 6.17) (Isgro and Schulten, 2007). Rcc1 releases RanGDP from NTF2 in the nucleus and consequently, NTF2 returns to the cytoplasm. The comparison between the RanGDP–NTF2 and Ran-Rcc1 complexes shows that Ran cannot bind to NTF2 and Rcc1 simultaneously. This is consistent with the fact that NTF2 obstructs dissociation of Ran and GDP by Rcc1. Hence, it suggests that RanGDP should detach from NTF2 before the nucleotide exchange occurs (Fig. 6.17) (Chumakov and Prasolov, 2010; Madrid and Weis, 2006; Renault et al., 2001).

2.5.3. Ran's nucleotide exchange

RanGEF (see Fig. 6.18) has a donut-like structure composed of seven bladed propellers at the periphery and a hole near its center. It possesses an acidic residue that interacts with one of Lys' on Ran. This structure is attached at one end to Ran and at the other to chromatin. It is speculated that RanGEF is bound to H2A and H2B of nucleosomes with a high affinity. However, it is also likely that RanGEF is rather bound to an internucleosome-exposed zone. Although RanBP3 is necessary to activate



Figure 6.18 Rcc1 (lighter) has a donut-like structure that induces disorder in the acidic Ran C-terminus. Therefore, it takes part in the detachment of GDP from RanGDP. Rcc1 inserts its β -hairpin, which acts as a β -wedge, into the Switch II and Ran p-loop, which is the nucleotide-binding site. Therefore, causes the GDP separation; a conformational change different from that occurs to Ran during its attachment to GDP and GTP.

RanGEF, it is observed that histories could even double the activity of RanGEF. Attachment of Rcc1 to chromatin is necessary for NCT and cell mitosis to occur (Chumakov and Prasolov, 2010; Fuller, 2010; Madrid and Weis, 2006; Yudin and Fainzilber, 2009). Metazoan and yeast RanGEFs are called Rcc1 and prp20, respectively. Rcc1 is a 45-kDa structure that induces disorder in the Ran acidic C-terminus. Therefore, it takes part in the detachment of GDP from RanGDP. Rcc1 inserts its β -hairpin, located on its third blade propeller which acts as a β -wedge, into the Switch II and Ran p-loop, which is the nucleotide-binding site and in so doing causes the GDP separation; a conformational change different from that occurs to Ran during its attachment to GDP and GTP (Fig. 6.18). Briefly, Rcc1 destabilizes the Ran-GDP complex by inducing a conformational change in Switch II, p-loop, and the RanGDP C-terminus. After GDP is separated, since the concentration of GTP is higher than that of GDP and Rcc1 expression is increased, GDP is replaced with GTP readily via Rcc1 mediation. This interaction progresses very slowly in the absence of Rcc1 (Bos et al., 2007; Lui and Huang, 2009; Renault et al., 2001; Vetter and Wittinghofer, 2001).

Apparently, the attachment of RanGEF to Histones enhances RanGEF activity up to twice as much. This bond induces a mild conformational change in the Rcc1 binding site to His. This conformational change propagates toward the nucleotide-binding site of Ran through the β -wedge of Rcc1, and therefore, Rcc1 attachment to the nucleosome increases the guanine nucleotide exchange. Further, a model has been proposed

suggesting a direct bond between Ran and both Rcc1 and nucleosome (England et al., 2010).

The effect of Rcc1 is to such a degree that guanine nucleotide exchange reaction occurs 10^5 times faster in the presence of Rcc1. Moreover, the spontaneous dissociation half-life of GDP from Ran is around 2 h at 25 °C, which could be further shortened by Rcc1 facilitation (Klebe et al., 1995). Rcc1 has an NLS on its N-terminus and rides on importins to enter the nucleus. An accompanying importin is, however, not a requirement for entrance, and substitute pathways potentially exist.

Recently, a model has been suggested in which imp β works in Ran as the exchanging factor of GTP to GDP. In this model, the RanGDP– RanBP1–imp β –imp α –NLS complex forms in the cytoplasm and NTF2 facilitates its passage across the channel. Also, presence of NTF2 protects the complex against GDP nucleotide exchange. Upon passing across the channel, NTF2 is separated by an unknown factor and GDP is replaced with GTP. In fact, Ran affinity to GTP when bound to imp β is more than that to GDP, and this is the key factor that makes the nucleotide exchange possible. Once RanGTP is formed and a strong interaction with imp β occurs, imp α and NLS are detached from the complex (Lonhienne et al., 2009).

3. NUCLEOCYTOPLASMIC TRANSPORT PATHWAY

The main NCT pathways are shown in Fig. 6.19. Nuclear pore complexes mediate bidirectional transport of various macromolecules. At first, in the cytoplasm, the NLS-carrying cargo through interaction with imp α binds to the imp α /imp β complex to form an import complex, which then docks the cytoplasmic filaments. This complex passes across the NPC toward the nucleus via weak interactions with FG-Nups. Inside the nucleus, the imported complex attaches to the nuclear basket Nups such as Nup50 (Nup2). After binding of import complex to Nup50 occurs, RanGTP, which is in high concentration near the nuclear basket, dissociates imp β from the cargo complex and the new RanGTP-imp β complex is recycled back to the cytoplasm. Subsequently, cargo detaches from $imp\alpha$ via a connection of Nup50 to imp α . Then, imp α in the presence of a CAS molecule, in a complex with RanGTP, is detached from Nup50, and finally is exported back to the cytoplasm, attaching to the CAS-RanGTP complex. In the cytoplasm, the imp α -CAS-RanGTP and RanGTP-imp β complexes should be disassembled into their components.

Disassembly of the RanGTP-imp β complex may occur by intervention of soluble RanGAP and RanBP1 (Fig. 6.19), or Nup358/RanBP2, which is in contact with RanGAP; RanGTP is hydrolyzed later on (Fig. 6.19; Hutten et al., 2008; Nishimoto, 2000). In fact, once attachment of this



Figure 6.19 The nucleocytoplasmic transport (NCT) pathways.

complex to RanBP1 takes place, in the presence of imp α , imp β is released. RanGAP through binding to RanGTP excites the GTP-to-GDP hydrolysis. Ultimately, the RanGAP–RanGTP–RanBD complex dissociates upon formation of RanGDP. However, the imp β –RanGTP complex through binding to RanBP2/Nup358, which is connected to RanGAP, forms a quadruple complex. Afterward, the presence of imp α helps destabilize the complex–imp β interaction and enables RanGAP to bind to RanGTP and provoke its hydrolysis. Imp β and imp α detach from the complex when the RanGTP hydrolysis is over. Indeed, it is not known whether RanGAP comes into play immediately after the complex enters the cytoplasm and causes its disassembly via provoking RanGTP hydrolysis, or imp β detaches from the complex prior to the action of RanGAP.

While the CAS-impα-RanGTP complex is exiting the nucleus, the RanBD-RanGTP connection causes the detachment of CAS from RanGTP, and eventually, the hydrolysis of RanGTP is catalyzed by the

binding of RanGAP to the complex (Bischoff and Gorlich, 1997). However, some researchers believe RanBP1 and RanGAP together attach to the CAS–impα–RanGTP complex, and after the hydrolysis of GTP, because CAS does not have a high affinity to RanGDP, the complex is disassembled (Kutay et al., 1997).

Cargos carrying an NES attach to the exportin–RanGTP complexes, such as Crm1–RanGTP and return to the cytoplasm. The abovementioned hydrolysis process gives rise to RanGTP conversion into RanGDP and releases the cargo. However, NTF2 is in charge of carrying RanGDP from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. In the nucleus, NTF2 detaches from RanGDP, and RanGEF catalyzes the replacement of GDP by GTP, preparing the environment for recycling of the complexes to the cytoplasm. Therefore, interactions of a variety of molecules result in the accumulation of cargo molecules inside the nucleus via the import pathway and their removal via their export to the cytoplasm.

4. NPC and Diseases

Structural changes in Nups and carriers or defects in transport pathways leading to nuclear or cytoplasmic overaccumulation of materials are correlated with a number of diseases, such as cancer, immune system disorders, and nervous system diseases. Sometimes, an alteration in the transport mechanism is the reason behind these types of diseases; while they could also caused by conformational changes or malfunctions appear as a result of an NPC disorder. A thorough understanding of the relation between NPC function and these diseases is a stepping stone toward the development of treatments for them.

4.1. Cancer

Overexpression of at least one of the NPC protein decoder genes likely induces cancer. For instance, overexpression of Nup88 (Fig. 6.2) located on the cytoplasmic side of the NPC is observed in breast and ovarian tumors (Cronshaw and Matunis, 2004). This Nup has cell-specific activities and its failure to control specific signal translocation pathways in human cells potentially gives rise to tumor formation. This Nup anchors Nup214 (Fig. 6.2) to the NPC and facilitates the export of NES-bearing cargos. Overexpression of Nup88 in cancerous cells decreases the NF κ B export (i.e., the transcription factor involved in apoptosis, cancer, and immune responses) thereby, causes NF κ B accumulation in the nucleus. This increased concentration of NF κ B in human cell nuclei, such as colon carcinoma, breast, and pancreas, induces a detrimental upregulation of target genes (Kohler and Hurt, 2010; Xu and Powers, 2009).

However, the NCT patterns are altered in tumor cells. The expression level of transporters, presumably affecting the transport patterns, also changes in cancer cells. Any mutation or expression level changes in transport receptors or RanGTP/RanGDP gradient results in changes the distribution of factors like tumor suppressors or oncoproteins (Chahine and Pierce, 2009). Overexpression of CAS is observed in many types of cancers, such as liver neoplasm, breast, and colon cancers. This overexpression increases nuclear concentration of $imp\alpha$, which introduces a redistribution of tumor suppressors and oncoproteins and thereby, an enhanced cell proliferation and resistance against apoptosis. An increase in concentration of CAS obstructs the import of P53 by impa (Chahine and Pierce, 2009; Kau et al., 2004). Yet it is not known whether this overexpression induces cancer via changes in the distribution of impα-dependent cargoes, like P53 (a tumor suppressor protein), or it is due to a secondary role of CAS independent of its participation in transport phenomena as an exportin.

A specific form of imp α is observed in ZR-75-1 breast cancer cells, which lacks the NLS-binding domain. In such cells, because of imp α structural defects, the nuclear import level of P53 is reduced and P53 remains in the cytoplasm. Accumulation of the cytoplasmic P53 was observed in 40% of breast cancer cases (Kim et al., 2000). In these cells, in addition to P53, other suppressors are likely to be affected by inappropriate localizations.

Upregulation of Ran occurs in prostate, breast, colon, kidney, ovarian, sarcoma, and nasopharyngeal carcinoma cancers. While a small magnitude of Ran suffices viability of normal cells, a significant increase in the amount of Ran concentration causes tumorigenesis. Abnormalities in Ran-gradient-regulating enzymes during oxidative stress have been observed in breast cancer. In other words, oxidants eventually destroy the Ran gradient pattern and nuclear import of proteins (Chahine and Pierce, 2009).

In "familial adenomatous polyposis" (a dominant autosomal disease characterized by development of colon carcinoma) due to defects in the adenomatosis polyposis coli gene, which induces CRM1-mediated- β catenin export, β -catenine piles in the nucleus abnormally and consequently leads to the activation of transforming genes (Faustino et al., 2007; Henderson, 2000). In some cancerous cells, accumulation of cargoes in the nucleus or cytoplasm is caused by alterations in cargo NLSs or NESs, such as NF κ B, whose activation induces tumorigenesis and cancers like Hodgkin's lymphoma. In healthy cells, NF κ B joins a complex with I κ B inhibitor, which masks NLS of NF κ B to block its way to the nucleus. When I κ B is phosphorylated and degraded, NLS of NF κ B is unmasked and allows NLS to enter the nucleus. Hence, defects in NF κ B regulators cause upregulation of tumorigenesis target genes (Chahine and Pierce, 2009). Several cases of such inappropriate crowds of cancerous cells have been observed.

Genes of several Nups, which produce "oncogenic fusion proteins" (i.e., a protein made from a fusion gene when parts of two different genes join), are known to contribute to some types of cancers. For example, translocation of Nup98 gene (i.e., the movement of Nup98 gene fragment from one chromosomal location to another) is related to hematological malignancies, especially in acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Nup98 gene could fuse to at least 14 other genes. This Nup has an FG repeat sequence at the end of its N-terminus, which is the Rae1 binding site responsible for RNA export and the mitotic checkpoint activation. This part of Nup98 fuses to its partners, most importantly the homeobox family of transcription factors (HOX). A chromosomal rearrangement following that produces oncogenic fusion proteins, which induce tumorigenesis and cancer. These proteins potentially cause deficiency in the transport of materials, leading to leukemogenesis. It is also possible that Nup98 FG repeats randomly, via interaction with transcriptional coactivators, excite transcription of some leukemogenesis-related genes. Since Rae1 (a protein bound to Nup98) is a regulator of mitotic checkpoint activation, any deficiency of Rae1 could lead to a disturbance in the cell mitosis and thereby, leukemogenesis. Multiple mechanisms are speculated to engage in this transformation process. In some cancers, such as myeloid leukemia, fusion of Nup214 gene (an FG-Nup located on the cytoplasmic side of the NPC) (Fig. 6.2) has been reported. Nup214 gene could fuse to coder genes of DNA-associated proteins like DEK and SEK, generating new chromosomal translocations. Also, Nup214 FG repeat probably causes activation of other genes related to leukemia. Nup98 and Nup214 fusion proteins remain in the cytoplasm and preserve their capability of binding to soluble factors (Cronshaw and Matunis, 2004; Kohler and Hurt, 2010; Xu and Powers, 2009).

Sequestration of karyopherins obstructs their active participation in the transport cycle. Tpr is a 265-kDa Nup located on the nuclear side of the NPC and is a compound of the nuclear basket (Fig. 6.2). Tpr contributes to the export of RNA and proteins from the nucleus and regulates Mad1 and Mad2 checkpoints of the mitosis spindle. Biochemical studies show that the N-terminal coiled coil domain of this Nup fuses to kinase proteins such as MET, RAF, and TRK, and it mediates protein polymerization, activates protein kinases in cellular transformation, and plays a role in the occurrence of cancer (Kohler and Hurt, 2010; Xu and Powers, 2009). Another Nup that might be involved in chromosomal translocation is Nup358. This Nup could fuse its N-terminus to the kinase protein domain Alk and by activating Alk induce cell transformation (Ma et al., 2003).

As opposed to other fusion proteins, which are separate from the NPC, this oncogenic fusion protein is localized on the NPC.

4.2. Autoimmune diseases

In some autoimmune diseases (e.g., primary biliary, symmetric lupus arythroid, etc.), anti-NPC autoantibodies attach to some Nups, such as Nup62, Nup153, Nup358, gp210, and Tpr (Fig. 6.2). In primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC), bile ducts deteriorate gradually, resulting in the development of liver cirrhosis. Autoantibodies for gp210 and Nup-p62 (Fig. 6.2) recognized in patients suffering from these diseases, especially during the advanced stages, could be markers of how severely the disease has developed. However, looking at the strong correlation between the concentration of these antibodies and development of the disease, some researchers proposed that these antibodies themselves cause the disease, which still remains unverified (Cronshaw and Matunis, 2004; Tsangaridou et al., 2010).

4.3. Nervous system diseases

Central nervous system (CNS) selective effects of RanBP2 could prepare pathogenesis background for specific neuropathies, such as Parkinson. In this CNS disease, mutated Parkin protein has E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. It targets RanBP2 and the attached ubiquitin to RanBP2, and protosomal degeneration occurs in RanBP2 (Aslanukov et al., 2006; Um et al., 2006). Acute necrotizing encephalopathy (ANE) is another CNS disease that is diagnosed in young children usually after an influenza type A or B viral infection. It is suggested that this disease develops as a result of a mutation in RanBP2 (Gika et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2004; Neilson et al., 2009).

Recently, conducted studies on relations of NPC proteins and Alzheimer (a fatal brain disorder) reveal that a nuclear irregularity occurs in the NPC and Tau proteins (usually in association with neurofibrillary tangles). In addition, a cytoplasmic accumulation of NTF2 in hippocampal neurons (with or without tangles) is observed in Alzheimer, indicating the inharmony of the transport. Also, disruptions in the distribution pattern of some karyopherins like imp α 1 are reported in Alzheimer (Lee et al., 2006; Sheffield et al., 2006; Yadirgi and Marino, 2009).

Triple A syndrome (also called as Allgrave syndrome) is an autosomal recessive disorder characterized by adrenal failure, achalasia of the cardia, alacrima (absence of tears), and neurological defects. Triple A syndrome is a consequence of a mutation in ALADIN (alacrima achalasia adrenal insufficiency neurological disorder) gene, a part (Nup) of the NPC structure. However, recent investigations indicate that ALADIN integration in the NPC occurs via the NDC1 transmembrane Nup. Since reduction of the ALADIN integration is a major mechanism for triggering and the development of Triple A syndrome, it is suggested that the interaction between these two Nups might play a role in pathogenesis and its elimination might be important in development of the disease. An initial defect in ALADIN protein disrupts the karyopherin α/β -mediated import pathway and hence, blocks the nuclear import of DNA report proteins like aparataxin and DNA ligase I. This makes DNA damage and cellular death under the oxidative stress highly probable. Further, as a result of ALADIN Nup defects, nuclear import of Ferritin heavy chain, which is the DNA protector, is disrupted, making the cell more prone to the oxidative damage. Engagement of adrenal and CNS is clearly observed in this disease (Kind et al., 2009; Kiriyama et al., 2008; Storr et al., 2009; Yamazumi et al., 2009).

Mutation in Nup62 gene, which is the coder gene of one of Nups called p62, gives rise to a disease named infantile bilateral striatal necrosis (IBSN) that is a neurodegenerative disorder, and CNS is engaged in this disorder in the same way as it is in Triple A syndrome. p62 taking part in the NCT plays a cell type-specific role in basal ganglia degradation (a group of nuclei in vertebrate brains). Reportedly, mutations of protein gene do not affect its localization in the NPC and they are cell-type-specific mechanisms caused by these mutations that induce the disease. However, this is a matter of controversy and various hypotheses, such as partial abnormality of the NPC structure, detrimental disorders in transport pathways of proteins involved in neural cells in basal ganglia, and alteration in chromatin localization in some specific cells, exist on trigger of this disease (Basel-Vanagaite et al., 2006; Chahine and Pierce, 2009).

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is an incurable progressive disease affecting a group of motor neurons in the brain and spinal cord, resulting in neurodegradation as well as muscle degradation. Studies on the cells suffering from this disease, i.e. anterior horn cells (AHC), show irregularities of nuclear contours along with an inefficient distribution of transporters along the channel. Lack of imp β and irregularity in Nup62 in a subset of these cells suggested that a detrimental dysfunctional NCT occurs in these cells. Again, like Triple A syndrome, disruptions in transport activities of the NPC most probably hinder a successful entry of a regeneration signal to the nucleus, facilitating the neurodegradation and taking part in the ASL pathogenesis in this way. Transactivation response DNA binding protein 43 (TDP43), which typically exists in the nucleus, has been observed only in the cytoplasm of diseased cells. It is assumed that their disease is caused by the NPC dysfunction and is related to the ASL pathogenesis (Kinoshita et al., 2009).

4.4. Cardiac disease

A direct link between the NPC machine and heart disease was recognized first in arterial fibrillation (AF), which is a cardiac dysrhythmia. Further studies revealed that mutations in Nup155 coder gene (a Nup involved in transport of mRNA and proteins) lead to the development of this disease and early sudden cardiac death. Decrease of Nup155 interrupts export of HSP70 mRNA and import of HSP70, which is a vital protein for the cell, to the nucleus. Therefore, it is suggested that Nup155 plays a key role in regulating HSP70 gene expression and mutation in this gene causes cardiac death. In addition, recent studies focusing on the influence of heart failure (HF) on the NPC in human cardiomyocytes indicated high levels of importins, exportins, Ran regulators like RanGAP, and p62, whereby density of NPCs did not show any significant change (Cortes et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2008).

4.5. Infectious diseases

Another category of diseases that could be stemmed from the NPC and its function is infectious diseases. Generally, viruses fall into two categories of those including DNA genome and those including RNA genome, each of which deals with the NPC in a distinct way to cause the disease.

4.5.1. Viruses with DNA genome

Viruses encapsulating DNA genome, after entering the cytoplasm, should pass through the NPC to access the nucleus to fuse their genes to the host cell genes and proliferate. The major obstacle on their way to the nucleus is the small diameter of the NPC. Small viruses, such as hepatitis–B virus (HBV) and parvovirus (MVM), easily travel through the NPC with their whole viral capsid, but larger ones, like herpes simplex virus (HSV), need to disassemble their viral capsid to be able to pass across the NPC (Chowdhury, 2009; Greber and Fornerod, 2005; Puntener and Greber, 2009).

Transport of HBVs through the NPC is facilitated by phosphorylation of their capsids during maturity, which are actually their NLSs. This change in the viral capsid eases access of NLS to imp α and imp β . In the nuclear basket, upon interaction between imp β and Nup153, the entering complex is stopped whereby RanGTP unbinds the transporter (imp β) and recycles it back to the cytoplasm. When the transporter is unbound, viral capsids attach to the Nups 150 times stronger than imp β does. Thereafter, mature capsids become disassembled and capsid subunits and viral DNAs leave the nuclear basket and get released in the nucleus, while immature capsids are trapped in the nuclear basket, waiting for further maturation (Schmitz et al., 2010). Large viruses like HSV or adenovirus particles primarily attach to cytoplasmic fibers. Docking of HSV through the NPC relies on the presence of $imp\beta$, and once inside the nucleus, HSV releases its DNA (Lee and Chen, 2010; Rixon, 2010). However, adenovirus capsids in the cytoplasm bind to CAN/Nup214 directly. These viruses trap necessary factors for their capsid disassembly, such as Hsc70, histone H1, and transport factors of imp β and importin7 (Greber and Fassati, 2003), and finally release their DNA into the NPC to travel all the way to the nucleus (Russell, 2009; Trotman et al., 2001). Recent studies suggested that protein VII and its receptor, transportin, mediate import of DNA (Hindley et al., 2007). Also, polyomaviruses like SV40 undergo changes before reaching the nucleus. These viruses release their DNA containing subviral particles in the cytosol by passing through the endoplasmic reticulum, which causes exposure of some capsid protein NLSs, and these NLSs enter the nucleus by mediation of imp α and imp β (Puntener and Greber, 2009). Papillomaviruses are another category of viruses that become uncoated in the endoplasmic network prior to entering the nucleus and they need importins to be transported to the nucleus because of their large size (Sapp and Day, 2009).

4.5.2. Viruses with RNA genome

Viruses with RNA, for example, picornaviruses (polioviruses, rhinoviruses) and rhabdoviruses, proliferate in the cytoplasm of their host cells and they do not need to reach the nucleus. Nevertheless, cells infected by these viruses experience NPC structural and functional nucleocytoplasmic disorders. For instance, infection by polioviruses or rhinoviruses causes certain nuclear proteins, such as Sam68, La, and nucleolin, to become jammed in the cytoplasm (Hiscox, 2003; Weidman et al., 2003). These proteins induce virus replication upon reacting with its RNA. In fact, these viruses inhibit active import by the proteolytic degradation of Nups, especially Nup62, Nup153, and Nup98, and thereby weaken the host cell's immune response against the virus (Gustin and Sarnow, 2002; Park et al., 2008). Most probably, the overall activity of the NPC continues after infection because certain imports and exports keep occurring even while the cell is infected (Lin et al., 2009).

Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) includes an important protein called M-protein. This protein induces some alterations in the NPC and the transport pathways. It is thought to interact with Nup98 on the nuclear side of the NPC and is capable of dissociating Rae1 from Rae1–Nup98 complex and inhibiting the mRNA export process. It also obstructs nuclear import processes and the export of UsnRNA, rRNA, and snRNA. During the antiviral response via interferon signaling, Nup98 becomes upregulated thereby, releases M-protein and commences the export process (Cronshaw and Matunis, 2004; Ren et al., 2010; von Kobbe et al., 2000).

Although retroviruses are mostly able to proliferate in dividing cells, which lack a nuclear envelope, a group of them called lentiviruses (including HIV) proliferate in nondividing cells as well, because these viruses gain access to their host cell DNA upon passing across the NPC. These viruses lose their capsid in the host cell cytoplasm and consequently, their RNA genome is reverse-transcribed into a complementary DNA (cDNA). This cDNA along with cellular and viral protein factors forms a complex termed preintegration complex (PIC), which enters the nucleus through the NPC and obtains proliferation capability. This complex contains matrix protein (MA), Vpr, integrase (IN), and DNA flap which are able to mediate the DNA nuclear import either directly or by means of karyopherins, such as imp α , imp β , imp7, and transportin, or by means of different Nups, such asNup98, Nup358, Nup153, and RanBP2. It has been shown recently that a direct interaction between integrase and Nup153 takes part in the PIC nuclear import (Woodward et al., 2009). It appears that MA, Vpr, and IN proteins enter the nucleus via interaction with importins and Nups (Aida and Matsuda, 2009; Suzuki and Craigie, 2007; Suzuki et al., 2009). Most likely, central DNA flap plays a more important role in the import process than do other elements (De Rijck and Debyser, 2006; Riviere et al., 2010). Interestingly, it is suggested that HIV docks to cytoplasmic fibers on the NPC by its capsid upon arriving in the cytoplasm and the reversetranscription on its RNA confers a cDNA, and finally, upon formation of a DNA flap, PIC enters the nucleus after removal of the viral capsid. In other words, in this model, the viral capsid has the central role in the cDNA nuclear import (Arhel et al., 2007; Suzuki and Craigie, 2007; Zennou et al., 2000).

Avian sarcoma virus (ASV), which is an alpharetrovirus, is able to penetrate cycle-arrested cell nuclei. Apparently, this virus enters its host cell nucleus by a protein on its integrase. Studies indicate the ASV integrase import occurs without a classic binding to imp α but depends on soluble cellular factors. Integrase enters the nucleus by exploiting one or a few soluble cellular factors responsible for transport of histone H1 (Anderson and Hope, 2005; Andrake et al., 2008; Chowdhury, 2009).

Influenza virus is an Orthomyxovirus containing eight genomic ribonucleoproteins (RNPs), including RNA and nucleoprotein (NP). This virus is equipped with RNA-dependent RNA polymerase, which is an enzyme for replication and transcription. In a certain level of infection, RNPs and some other viral proteins are released in the cytoplasm, whereas they need to enter the nucleus to be able to proliferate. Generally, during an influenza infection, several nuclear imports and exports occur. In primary levels of infection, incoming VRNPs wandering in the cytoplasm enter the nucleus, and afterward, synthesized transcripts of the virus are exported from the nucleus. Then, newly synthesized proteins, NPs and RdRp subunits (PA, PB1, and PB2), enter the nucleus via their specific NLSs, and finally, Crm1 helps assembled VRNPs exit the nucleus. RNA to be transported to the nucleus is dependent upon the presence of imp α , imp β , and Ran, as well as a coating with nontypical NLS-carrying NPs. It is yet to be known that whether these specific NLSs bind directly to RNA or they attach to the transporters. Recently, a lot of attention has been paid to investigating the nuclear transport mechanism of influenza virus proteins. For instance, it was determined recently that in influenza A virus (a specific type of influenza virus), PB1 and PA forming a dimer, enter the nucleus via importin5 factor. PB2 separately penetrates the nucleus and attaches to PA-PB1 dimer in the nucleus. A mutation in the PB2 NLS subunit hinders its nuclear import, leading to the formation of an abnormal polymerase in the cytoplasm. Additionally, in influenza A virus, two NLSs (NLS1 and NLS2) on the NP facilitate the transport of RNPs into the nucleus. Studies show that for incoming VRNPs and newly distributed NPs, to enter the nucleus, their NLS is exposed to the interaction. After the NPs entered the nucleus, RNP assembly occurs and RNPs are exported from the nucleus and these RNPs are no longer able to enter the nucleus. Among these RNPs, it is observed that NLS1 is hidden and thus, it is suggested that NLS1 hides in the NPs prior to the RNP assembly. Nonetheless, another model states that NLS1 hides after the NPs are assembled to form the RNP. Experiments indicated that the NP oligomerization is not the reason behind this NLS masking, rather it happens because of a past modification, binding to cellular proteins or the NP conformational change. Therefore, NLSs play a significant role in the function of these viruses and they regulate the nuclear transport directionality of their genome via selective exposure of NLSs (Whittaker et al., 1996; Wu and Pante, 2009).

Basically, each cell shows a specific reaction when it faces a virus attack. For this response to develop, transcription factors should enter the nucleus and activate some particular genes. A group of alphaviruses take a smart action to prevent the host cell from showing this response, that is, blocking the NCT pathway. Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus (VEEV) blocks the NPC central channel to stop the import of gene transcription factors needed to induce the response against the virus. The capsid of this virus binds simultaneously to Crm1 exportin, imp α , and imp β in the cytoplasm, forming an abnormal tetrameric complex. Also, these capsids are able to make dimeric complex with imp α and imp β . This odd complex settles at the NPC central pore and blocks import of crucial factors to the nucleus, though small proteins can still shuttle into and out of the nucleus. Using this strategy, the virus stops the cell antiviral response and increases its ability to proliferate (Atasheva et al., 2010).

4.6. Other disorders

Cell stressors such as UV irritation, oxidative stress, and heat shock stress induce diseases like schema, HF, hypertension, diabetes, and cancer by mislocalizing transport receptors like imp α (Chahine and Pierce, 2009; Miyamoto et al., 2004). Additionally, Ran overexpression interrupting

nuclear retention of important transcription factors engaged in activation of T-cells potentially causes defected responses in these cells (Qiao et al., 2010).

In addition to the aforementioned disorders, an import pathway has been discovered that participates in determining the sex by gender determination transporting transcription factors. This conserved pathway among eukaryotes is mediated by $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$ and is independent of Ran. It is known that defects in this NPC pathway due to stopping transit of some factors such as SRY and SOX9 in sertoli cells could cause human sex reversal diseases like campomelic dysplasia and sywer syndrome (Hanover et al., 2009).

5. CONCLUSION

The purpose of this review was to examine the nucleocytoplasmic pathways, interaction of molecules taking part in transport processes, and NPC-related diseases. In the past few years, major scientific efforts have been made to express and analyze the sophisticated structure of the NPC, the bilateral NPC pathways, and the roles played by molecules involved in the NCT process, which are critical to understanding how this superefficient nanomachine works and how it may potentially control the mechanobiology of the cell (Wolf and Mofrad, 2009). These studies, conferring an overall insight of the NPC function, have set the stage for us to move on to more detailed investigations in this field. Several diseases such as cancer, neural and immune system, and infectious diseases have been associated with NPC structural disorders and NCT disruptions. Further study of this dependence can shed light into the mechanism of this complicated system, and once this mechanism is deciphered, we will be able to predict and control transport of macromolecules more accurately to come up with affordable treatments for such diseases. In other words, on one hand, knowledge of the NPC structure and function paves the way toward understanding diseases and thereby discovering efficient treatment methods for them, while on the other hand, study of diseases increases our understanding of the NPC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank members of Molecular Cell Biomechanics Laboratory, especially Dr. Mohammad Azimi, for fruitful discussions and editorial assistance.

REFERENCES

- Adam, S.A., 2001. The nuclear pore complex. Genome Biol 2, reviews0007.1-reviews0007.6.
- Aida, Y., Matsuda, G., 2009. Role of Vpr in HIV-1 nuclear import: therapeutic implications. Curr. HIV Res. 7, 136–143.
- Akey, C.W., Radermacher, M., 1993. Architecture of the Xenopus nuclear pore complex revealed by three-dimensional cryo-electron microscopy. J. Cell Biol. 122, 1–19.
- Alber, F., Dokudovskaya, S., Veenhoff, L.M., Zhang, W., Kipper, J., Devos, D., et al., 2007. The molecular architecture of the nuclear pore complex. Nature 450, 695–701.
- Anderson, J.L., Hope, T.J., 2005. Intracellular trafficking of retroviral vectors: obstacles and advances. Gene Ther 12, 1667–1678.
- Andrake, M.D., Sauter, M.M., Boland, K., Goldstein, A.D., Hussein, M., Skalka, A.M., 2008. Nuclear import of Avian Sarcoma Virus integrase is facilitated by host cell factors. Retrovirology 5, 1–14.
- Arhel, N.J., Souquere-Besse, S., Munier, S., Souque, P., Guadagnini, S., Rutherford, S., et al., 2007. HIV-1 DNA Flap formation promotes uncoating of the pre-integration complex at the nuclear pore. EMBO. J. 26, 3025–3037.
- Aslanukov, A., Bhowmick, R., Guruju, M., Oswald, J., Raz, D., Bush, R.A., et al., 2006. RanBP2 modulates Cox11 and hexokinase I activities and haploinsufficiency of RanBP2 causes deficits in glucose metabolism. PLoS Genet. 2, 1653–1665.
- Atasheva, S., Fish, A., Fornerod, M., Frolova, E.I., 2010. Venezuelan equine Encephalitis virus capsid protein forms a tetrameric complex with CRM1 and importin alpha/beta that obstructs nuclear pore complex function. J. Virol. 84, 4158–4171.
- Bapteste, E., Charlebois, R.L., MacLeod, D., Brochier, C., 2005. The two tempos of nuclear pore complex evolution: highly adapting proteins in an ancient frozen structure. Genome Biol. 6, R85.1–R85.15.
- Basel-Vanagaite, L., Muncher, L., Straussberg, R., Pasmanik-Chor, M., Yahav, M., Rainshtein, L., et al., 2006. Mutated nup62 causes autosomal recessive infantile bilateral striatal necrosis. Ann. Neurol. 60, 214–222.
- Batrakou, D.G., Kerr, A.R., Schirmer, E.C., 2009. Comparative proteomic analyses of the nuclear envelope and pore complex suggests a wide range of heretofore unexpected functions. J. Proteomics 72, 56–70.
- Bayliss, R., Littlewood, T., Strawn, L.A., Wente, S.R., Stewart, M., 2002. GLFG and FxFG nucleoporins bind to overlapping sites on importin-beta. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 50597–50606.
- Bednenko, J., Cingolani, G., Gerace, L., 2003a. Importin beta contains a COOH-terminal nucleoporin binding region important for nuclear transport. J. Cell Biol. 162, 391–401.
- Bednenko, J., Cingolani, G., Gerace, L., 2003b. Nucleocytoplasmic transport: navigating the channel. Traffic 4, 127–135.
- Ben-Efraim, I., Frosst, P.D., Gerace, L., 2009. Karyopherin binding interactions and nuclear import mechanism of nuclear pore complex protein Tpr. BMC Cell Biol. 10, 1–9.
- Ben-Efraim, I., Gerace, L., 2001. Gradient of increasing affinity of importin beta for nucleoporins along the pathway of nuclear import. J. Cell Biol. 152, 411–417.
- Bischoff, F.R., Gorlich, D., 1997. RanBP1 is crucial for the release of RanGTP from importin beta-related nuclear transport factors. FEBS Lett. 419, 249–254.
- Bos, J.L., Rehmann, H., Wittinghofer, A., 2007. GEFs and GAPs: critical elements in the control of small G proteins. Cell 129, 865–877.
- Brohawn, S.G., Schwartz, T.U., 2009. Molecular architecture of the Nup84-Nup145C-Sec13 edge element in the nuclear pore complex lattice. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 16, 1173–1177.
- Brucker, S., Gerwert, K., Kotting, C., 2010. Tyr39 of ran preserves the Ran-GTP gradient by inhibiting GTP hydrolysis. J. Mol. Biol. 401, 1–6.

- Cassola, A., Frasch, A.C., 2009. An RNA recognition motif mediates the nucleocytoplasmic transport of a trypanosome RNA-binding protein. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 35015–35028.
- Catimel, B., Teh, T., Fontes, M.R., Jennings, I.G., Jans, D.A., Howlett, G.J., et al., 2001. Biophysical characterization of interactions involving importin-alpha during nuclear import. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 34189–34198.
- Cavalier-Smith, T., 2010. Origin of the cell nucleus, mitosis and sex: roles of intracellular coevolution. Biol. Direct 5, 1–78.
- Chahine, M.N., Pierce, G.N., 2009. Therapeutic targeting of nuclear protein import in pathological cell conditions. Pharmacol. Rev. 61, 358–372.
- Chowdhury, E.H., 2009. Nuclear targeting of viral and non-viral DNA. Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 6, 697–703.
- Chumakov, S.P., Prasolov, V.S., 2010. [Organization and regulation of nucleocytoplasmic transport]. Mol. Biol. (Mosk) 44, 211–228.
- Cingolani, G., Bednenko, J., Gillespie, M.T., Gerace, L., 2002. Molecular basis for the recognition of a nonclassical nuclear localization signal by importin beta. Mol. Cell 10, 1345–1353.
- Cingolani, G., Petosa, C., Weis, K., Muller, C.W., 1999. Structure of importin-beta bound to the IBB domain of importin-alpha. Nature 399, 221–229.
- Colwell, L.J., Brenner, M.P., Ribbeck, K., 2010. Charge as a Selection Criterion for Translocation through the Nuclear Pore Complex. PLoS Comput. Biol. 6, 1–8.
- Conti, E., Kuriyan, J., 2000. Crystallographic analysis of the specific yet versatile recognition of distinct nuclear localization signals by karyopherin alpha. Structure 8, 329–338.
- Conti, E., Muller, C.W., Stewart, M., 2006. Karyopherin flexibility in nucleocytoplasmic transport. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 16, 237–244.
- Cook, A., Bono, F., Jinek, M., Conti, E., 2007. Structural biology of nucleocytoplasmic transport. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 76, 647–671.
- Cook, A.G., Conti, E., 2010. Nuclear export complexes in the frame. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 20, 247–252.
- Cortes, R., Rosello-Lleti, E., Rivera, M., Martinez-Dolz, L., Salvador, A., Azorin, I., et al., 2010. Influence of heart failure on nucleocytoplasmic transport in human cardiomyocytes. Cardiovasc. Res. 85, 464–472.
- Cronshaw, J.M., Matunis, M.J., 2004. The nuclear pore complex: disease associations and functional correlations. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 15, 34–39.
- D'Angelo, M.A., Anderson, D.J., Richard, E., Hetzer, M.W., 2006. Nuclear pores form de novo from both sides of the nuclear envelope. Science 312, 440–443.
- De Rijck, J., Debyser, Z., 2006. The central DNA flap of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is important for viral replication. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 349, 1100–1110.
- DeGrasse, J.A., DuBois, K.N., Devos, D., Siegel, T.N., Sali, A., Field, M.C., et al., 2009. Evidence for a shared nuclear pore complex architecture that is conserved from the last common eukaryotic ancestor. Mol. Cell Proteomics 8, 2119–2130.
- Denning, D.P., Patel, S.S., Uversky, V., Fink, A.L., Rexach, M., 2003. Disorder in the nuclear pore complex: the FG repeat regions of nucleoporins are natively unfolded. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 2450–2455.
- Denning, D.P., Uversky, V., Patel, S.S., Fink, A.L., Rexach, M., 2002. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae nucleoporin Nup2p is a natively unfolded protein. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 33447–33455.
- Devos, D., Dokudovskaya, S., Williams, R., Alber, F., Eswar, N., Chait, B.T., et al., 2006. Simple fold composition and modular architecture of the nuclear pore complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103, 2172–2177.
- Dilworth, D.J., Suprapto, A., Padovan, J.C., Chait, B.T., Wozniak, R.W., Rout, M.P., et al., 2001. Nup2p dynamically associates with the distal regions of the yeast nuclear pore complex. J. Cell Biol. 153, 1465–1478.

- Dorfman, J., Macara, G.I., 2008. STRADalpha regulates LKB1 localization by blocking access to importin-alpha, and by association with Crm1 and exportin-7. Mol. Biol. Cell 19, 1614–1626.
- Elad, N., Maimon, T., Frenkiel-Krispin, D., Lim, R.Y., Medalia, O., 2009. Structural analysis of the nuclear pore complex by integrated approaches. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 19, 226–232.
- England, J.R., Huang, J., Jennings, M.J., Makde, R.D., Tan, S., 2010. RCC1 uses a conformationally diverse loop region to interact with the nucleosome: a model for the RCC1-nucleosome complex. J. Mol. Biol. 398, 518–529.
- Erickson, E.S., Mooren, O.L., Moore, D., Krogmeier, J.R., Dunn, R.C., 2006. The role of nuclear envelope calcium in modifying nuclear pore complex structure. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 84, 309–318.
- Fabre, E., Hurt, E., 1997. Yeast genetics to dissect the nuclear pore complex and nucleocytoplasmic trafficking. Annu. Rev. Genet. 31, 277–313.
- Fahrenkrog, B., Aebi, U., 2003. The nuclear pore complex: nucleocytoplasmic transport and beyond. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4, 757–766.
- Fahrenkrog, B., Koser, J., Aebi, U., 2004. The nuclear pore complex: a jack of all trades? Trends Biochem. Sci. 29, 175–182.
- Fanara, P., Hodel, M.R., Corbett, A.H., Hodel, A.E., 2000. Quantitative analysis of nuclear localization signal (NLS)-importin alpha interaction through fluorescence depolarization – Evidence for auto-inhibitory regulation of NLS binding. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 21218–21223.
- Faustino, R.S., Nelson, T.J., Terzic, A., Perez-Terzic, C., 2007. Nuclear transport: target for therapy. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 81, 880–886.
- Fiserova, J., Goldberg, M.W., 2010. Nucleocytoplasmic transport in yeast: a few roles for many actors. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 38, 273–277.
- Fontes, M.R., Teh, T., Jans, D., Brinkworth, R.I., Kobe, B., 2003. Structural basis for the specificity of bipartite nuclear localization sequence binding by importin-alpha. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 27981–27987.
- Fontes, M.R., Teh, T., Kobe, B., 2000. Structural basis of recognition of monopartite and bipartite nuclear localization sequences by mammalian importin-alpha. J. Mol. Biol. 297, 1183–1194.
- Forwood, J.K., Lonhienne, T.G., Marfori, M., Robin, G., Meng, W., Guncar, G., et al., 2008. Kap95p binding induces the switch loops of RanGDP to adopt the GTP-bound conformation: implications for nuclear import complex assembly dynamics. J. Mol. Biol. 383, 772–782.
- Frenkiel-Krispin, D., Maco, B., Aebi, U., Medalia, O., 2010. Structural analysis of a metazoan nuclear pore complex reveals a fused concentric ring architecture. J. Mol. Biol. 395, 578–586.
- Frey, S., Gorlich, D., 2007. A saturated FG-repeat hydrogel can reproduce the permeability properties of nuclear pore complexes. Cell 130, 512–523.
- Frey, S., Gorlich, D., 2009. FG/FxFG as well as GLFG repeats form a selective permeability barrier with self-healing properties. EMBO J. 28, 2554–2567.
- Fuller, B.G., 2010. Self-organization of intracellular gradients during mitosis. Cell Div. 5, 1–21.
- Gerace, L., Burke, B., 1988. Functional organization of the nuclear envelope. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 4, 335–374.
- Geyer, J.P., Doker, R., Kremer, W., Zhao, X., Kuhlmann, J., Kalbitzer, H.R., 2005. Solution structure of the Ran-binding domain 2 of RanBP2 and its interaction with the C terminus of Ran. J. Mol. Biol. 348, 711–725.
- Gika, A.D., Rich, P., Gupta, S., Neilson, D.E., Clarke, A., 2010. Recurrent acute necrotizing encephalopathy following influenza A in a genetically predisposed family. Dev. Med. Child. Neurol. 52, 99–102.

- Gilchrist, D., Rexach, M., 2003. Molecular basis for the rapid dissociation of nuclear localization signals from karyopherin alpha in the nucleoplasm. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 51937–51949.
- GoÈrlich, D., Seewald, M., Ribbeck, K., 2003. Characterization of Ran-driven cargo transport and the RanGTPase system by kinetic measurements and computer simulation. EMBO J. 22, 1088–1100.
- Goldfarb, D., Corbett, A., Mason, D., Harreman, M., Adam, S., 2004. Importin: a multipurpose nuclear-transport receptor. Trends Cell Biol. 14, 505–514.
- Gorlich, D., Kutay, U., 1999. Transport between the cell nucleus and the cytoplasm. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 15, 607–660.
- Greber, U.F., Fassati, A., 2003. Nuclear import of viral DNA genomes. Traffic 4, 136-143.
- Greber, U.F., Fornerod, M., 2005. Nuclear import in viral infections. Curr. Top Microbiol. Immunol. 285, 109–138.
- Gustin, K.E., Sarnow, P., 2002. Inhibition of nuclear import and alteration of nuclear pore complex composition by rhinovirus. J. Virol. 76, 8787–8796.
- Hanover, J.A., Love, D.C., Prinz, W.A., 2009. Calmodulin-driven nuclear entry: trigger for sex determination and terminal differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 12593–12597.
- Henderson, B.R., 2000. Nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling of APC regulates beta-catenin subcellular localization and turnover. Nat. Cell Biol. 2, 653–660.
- Hetzer, M.W., 2010. The nuclear envelope. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect Biol. 2, 1-16.
- Hindley, C.E., Lawrence, F.J., Matthews, D.A., 2007. A role for transportin in the nuclear import of adenovirus core proteins and DNA. Traffic 8, 1313–1322.
- Hiscox, J.A., 2003. The interaction of animal cytoplasmic RNA viruses with the nucleus to facilitate replication. Virus Res. 95, 13–22.
- Holaska, J.M., Black, B.E., Love, D.C., Hanover, J.A., Leszyk, J., Paschal, B.M., 2001. Calreticulin is a receptor for nuclear export. J. Cell Biol. 152, 127–140.
- Hou, C., Corces, V.G., 2010. Nups take leave of the nuclear envelope to regulate transcription. Cell 140, 306–308.
- Huang, S.M., Chen, C.C., Chiu, P.C., Cheng, M.F., Lai, P.H., Hsieh, K.S., 2004. Acute necrotizing encephalopathy of childhood associated with influenza type B virus infection in a 3-year-old girl. J. Child Neurol. 19, 64–67.
- Hutten, S., Flotho, A., Melchior, F., Kehlenbach, R.H., 2008. The Nup358-RanGAP complex is required for efficient importin alpha/beta-dependent nuclear import. Mol. Biol. Cell 19, 2300–2310.
- Isgro, T., Schulten, K., 2007. Association of nuclear pore FG-repeat domains to NTF2 import and export complexes. J. Mol. Biol. 366, 330–345.
- Kahms, M., Lehrich, P., Huve, J., Sanetra, N., Peters, R., 2009. Binding site distribution of nuclear transport receptors and transport complexes in single nuclear pore complexes. Traffic 10, 1228–1242.
- Kapon, R., Topchik, A., Mukamel, D., Reich, Z., 2008. A possible mechanism for selfcoordination of bidirectional traffic across nuclear pores. Phys. Biol. 5, 036001.
- Kau, T., Way, J., Silver, P., 2004. Nuclear transport and cancer: from mechanism to intervention. Nat. Rev. Cancer 4, 1–12.
- Kim, I.S., Kim, D.H., Han, S.M., Chin, M.U., Nam, H.J., Cho, H.P., et al., 2000. Truncated form of importin alpha identified in breast cancer cell inhibits nuclear import of p53. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 23139–23145.
- Kind, B., Koehler, K., Lorenz, M., Huebner, A., 2009. The nuclear pore complex protein ALADIN is anchored via NDC1 but not via POM121 and GP210 in the nuclear envelope. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 390, 205–210.
- Kinoshita, Y., Ito, H., Hirano, A., Fujita, K., Wate, R., Nakamura, M., et al., 2009. Nuclear contour irregularity and abnormal transporter protein distribution in anterior horn cells in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 68, 1184–1192.

- Kiriyama, T., Hirano, M., Asai, H., Ikeda, M., Furiya, Y., Ueno, S., 2008. Restoration of nuclear-import failure caused by triple A syndrome and oxidative stress. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 374, 631–634.
- Kiseleva, E., Allen, T.D., Rutherford, S., Bucci, M., Wente, S.R., Goldberg, M.W., 2004. Yeast nuclear pore complexes have a cytoplasmic ring and internal filaments. J. Struct. Biol. 145, 272–288.
- Klebe, C., Bischoff, F.R., Ponstingl, H., Wittinghofer, A., 1995. Interaction of the nuclear GTP-binding protein Ran with its regulatory proteins RCC1 and RanGAP1. Biochemistry 34, 639–647.
- Kohler, A., Hurt, E., 2010. Gene regulation by nucleoporins and links to cancer. Mol. Cell 38, 6–15.
- Kramer, A., Ludwig, Y., Shahin, V., Oberleithner, H., 2007. A pathway separate from the central channel through the nuclear pore complex for inorganic ions and small macromolecules. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 31437–31443.
- Kutay, U., Bischoff, F.R., Kostka, S., Kraft, R., Gorlich, D., 1997. Export of importin alpha from the nucleus is mediated by a specific nuclear transport factor. Cell 90, 1061–1071.
- Kutay, U., Güttinger, S., 2005. Leucine-rich nuclear-export signals: born to be weak. Trends in Cell Biol. 15, 121–124.
- La Cour, T., Kiemer, L., Molgaard, A., Gupta, R., Skriver, K., Brunak, S., 2004. Analysis and prediction of leucine-rich nuclear export signals. Protein Eng. Desig. & Select. 17, 527–536.
- Lam, A.P., Dean, D.A., 2010. Progress and prospects: nuclear import of nonviral vectors. Gene Ther 17, 439-447.
- Lange, A., McLane, L.M., Mills, R.E., Devine, S.E., Corbett, A.H., 2010. Expanding the definition of the classical bipartite nuclear localization signal. Traffic 11, 311–323.
- Lange, A., Mills, R., Lange, C., Stewart, M., Devine, S., Corbett, A., 2007. Classical nuclear localization signals: definition, function, and interaction with importin {alpha}. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 5101–5105.
- Lee, C.P., Chen, M.R., 2010. Escape of herpesviruses from the nucleus. Rev. Med. Virol. 20, 214–230.
- Lee, H.G., Ueda, M., Miyamoto, Y., Yoneda, Y., Perry, G., Smith, M.A., et al., 2006. Aberrant localization of importin alpha1 in hippocampal neurons in Alzheimer disease. Brain Res 1124, 1–4.
- Lee, S., Matsuura, Y., Liu, S., Stewart, M., 2005. Structural basis for nuclear import complex dissociation by RanGTP. Nature 435, 693–696.
- Lim, R., Ullman, K., Fahrenkrog, B., 2008. Biology and biophysics of the nuclear pore complex and its components. Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol. 267, 299.
- Lin, J.Y., Chen, T.C., Weng, K.F., Chang, S.C., Chen, L.L., Shih, S.R., 2009. Viral and host proteins involved in picornavirus life cycle. J. Biomed. Sci. 16, 103.
- Lonhienne, T.G., Forwood, J.K., Marfori, M., Robin, G., Kobe, B., Carroll, B.J., 2009. Importin-beta Is a GDP-to-GTP exchange factor of Ran implications for the mechanism of nuclear import. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 22549–22558.
- Lott, K., Bhardwaj, A., Mitrousis, G., Pante, N., Cingolani, G., 2010. The importin beta binding domain modulates the avidity of importin beta for the nuclear pore complex. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 13769–13780.
- Lounsbury, K.M., Macara, I.G., 1997. Ran-binding protein 1 (RanBP1) forms a ternary complex with Ran and karyopherin beta and reduces Ran GTPase-activating protein (RanGAP) inhibition by karyopherin beta. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 551–555.
- Lui, K., Huang, Y., 2009. RanGTPase: A Key Regulator of Nucleocytoplasmic Trafficking. Mol. Cell. Pharmacol. 1, 148–156.
- Lusk, C.P., Blobel, G., King, M.C., 2007. Highway to the inner nuclear membrane: rules for the road. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 414–420.

- Ma, Z., Hill, D.A., Collins, M.H., Morris, S.W., Sumegi, J., Zhou, M., et al., 2003. Fusion of ALK to the Ran-binding protein 2 (RANBP2) gene in inflammatory myofibroblastic tumor. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 37, 98–105.
- Macara, I., 2001. Transport into and out of the nucleus. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 65, 570–594.
- Madrid, A.S., Weis, K., 2006. Nuclear transport is becoming crystal clear. Chromosoma 115, 98–109.
- Matsuura, Y., Lange, A., Harreman, M., Corbett, A., Stewart, M., 2003. Structural basis for Nup2p function in cargo release and karyopherin recycling in nuclear import. EMBO J. 22, 5358–5369.
- Matsuura, Y., Stewart, M., 2004. Structural basis for the assembly of a nuclear export complex. Nature 432, 872–877.
- Matsuura, Y., Stewart, M., 2005. Nup50/Npap60 function in nuclear protein import complex disassembly and importin recycling. EMBO J. 24, 3681–3689.
- Melchior, F., Gerace, L., 1998. Two-way trafficking with Ran. Trends Cell. Biol. 8, 175–179.
- Miao, L., Schulten, K., 2009. Transport-related structures and processes of the nuclear pore complex studied through molecular dynamics. Structure 17, 449–459.
- Miller, M., Park, M.K., Hanover, J.A., 1991. Nuclear pore complex: structure, function, and regulation. Physiol. Rev. 71, 909–949.
- Mishra, R.K., Chakraborty, P., Arnaoutov, A., Fontoura, B.M.A., Dasso, M., 2010. The Nup107-160 complex and gamma-TuRC regulate microtubule polymerization at kinetochores. Nat. cell biol. 12, 164–169.
- Miyamoto, Y., Saiwaki, T., Yamashita, J., Yasuda, Y., Kotera, I., Shibata, S., et al., 2004. Cellular stresses induce the nuclear accumulation of importin alpha and cause a conventional nuclear import block. J. Cell Biol. 165, 617–623.
- Mohr, D., Frey, S., Fischer, T., Guttler, T., Gorlich, D., 2009. Characterisation of the passive permeability barrier of nuclear pore complexes. EMBO J. 28, 2541–2553.
- Moore, M.S., 2003. Npap60: a new player in nuclear protein import. Trends Cell Biol. 13, 61–64.
- Moore, M.S., Blobel, G., 1994. A G protein involved in nucleocytoplasmic transport: the role of Ran. Trends Biochem. Sci. 19, 211–216.
- Mosammaparast, N., Pemberton, L.F., 2004. Karyopherins: from nuclear-transport mediators to nuclear-function regulators. Trends Cell Biol. 14, 547–556.
- Moussavi-Baygi, R., Jamali, Y., Karimi, R., Mofrad, M.R.K., 2011. Biophysical Coarse-Grained Modeling Provides Insights into Transport through the Nuclear Pore Complex. Biophys. J.
- Nagai, S., Dubrana, K., Tsai-Pflugfelder, M., Davidson, M.B., Roberts, T.M., Brown, G.W., et al., 2008. Functional targeting of DNA damage to a nuclear pore-associated SUMOdependent ubiquitin ligase. Science 322, 597–602.
- Naim, B., Brumfeld, V., Kapon, R., Kiss, V., Nevo, R., Reich, Z., 2007. Passive and facilitated transport in nuclear pore complexes is largely uncoupled. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 3881–3888.
- Nakano, H., Funasaka, T., Hashizume, C., Wong, R.W., 2010. Nucleoporin translocated promoter region (Tpr) associates with dynein complex, preventing chromosome lagging formation during mitosis. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 10841–10849.
- Neilson, D.E., Adams, M.D., Orr, C.M., Schelling, D.K., Eiben, R.M., Kerr, D.S., et al., 2009. Infection-triggered familial or recurrent cases of acute necrotizing encephalopathy caused by mutations in a component of the nuclear pore, RANBP2. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 84, 44–51.
- Neumann, N., Jeffares, D.C., Poole, A.M., 2006. Outsourcing the nucleus: nuclear pore complex genes are no longer encoded in nucleomorph genomes. Evol. Bioinform. Online 2, 23–34.

- Neuwald, A.F., Kannan, N., Poleksic, A., Hata, N., Liu, J.S., 2003. Ran's C-terminal, basic patch, and nucleotide exchange mechanisms in light of a canonical structure for Rab, Rho, Ras, and Ran GTPases. Genome Res. 13, 673–692.
- Nishimoto, T., 2000. Upstream and downstream of ran GTPase. Biol. Chem. 381, 397–405.
- Oberleithner, H., Schillers, H., Wilhelmi, M., Butzke, D., Danker, T., 2000. Nuclear pores collapse in response to CO2 imaged with atomic force microscopy. Pflugers Arch. 439, 251–255.
- Ogawa, Y., Miyamoto, Y., Asally, M., Oka, M., Yasuda, Y., Yoneda, Y., 2010. Two isoforms of npap60 (nup50) differentially regulate nuclear protein import. Mol. Biol. Cell 21, 630–638.
- Otsuka, S., Iwasaka, S., Yoneda, Y., Takeyasu, K., Yoshimura, S.H., 2008. Individual binding pockets of importin-beta for FG-nucleoporins have different binding properties and different sensitivities to RanGTP. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105, 16101–16106.
- Park, N., Katikaneni, P., Skern, T., Gustin, K.E., 2008. Differential targeting of nuclear pore complex proteins in poliovirus-infected cells. J. Virol. 82, 1647–1655.
- Patel, S., Rexach, M., 2008. Discovering novel interactions at the nuclear pore complex using bead halo: a rapid method for detecting molecular interactions of high and low affinity at equilibrium. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 7, 121–131.
- Paulillo, S., Powers, M., Ullman, K., Fahrenkrog, B., 2006. Changes in nucleoporin domain topology in response to chemical effectors. J. Mol. Biol. 363, 39–50.
- Peleg, O., Lim, R.Y., 2010. Converging on the function of intrinsically disordered nucleoporins in the nuclear pore complex. Biol. Chem. 391, 719–730.
- Pemberton, L.F., Paschal, B.M., 2005. Mechanisms of receptor-mediated nuclear import and nuclear export. Traffic 6, 187–198.
- Perez-Terzic, C., Behfar, A., Mery, A., van Deursen, J.M.A., Terzic, A., Puceat, M., 2003. Structural adaptation of the nuclear pore complex in stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Circ. Res. 92, 444–452.
- Perez-Terzic, C., Faustino, R.S., Boorsma, B.J., Arrell, D.K., Niederlander, N.J., Behfar, A., et al., 2007. Stem cells transform into a cardiac phenotype with remodeling of the nuclear transport machinery. Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med. 4 (Suppl 1), S68–76.
- Peters, R., 2005. Translocation through the nuclear pore complex: selectivity and speed by reduction-of-dimensionality. Traffic 6, 421–427.
- Peters, R., 2009a. Functionalization of a nanopore: the nuclear pore complex paradigm. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1793, 1533–1539.
- Peters, R., 2009b. Translocation through the nuclear pore: Kaps pave the way. Bioessays 31, 466–477.
- Petersen, C., Orem, N., Trueheart, J., Thorner, J.W., Macara, I.G., 2000. Random mutagenesis and functional analysis of the Ran-binding protein. RanBP1. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 4081–4091.
- Puntener, D., Greber, U., 2009. DNA-tumor virus entry—From plasma membrane to the nucleus. Semin. Cell. Develop. Biol. 20, 631–642.
- Qiao, X., Pham, D.N., Luo, H., Wu, J., 2010. Ran overexpression leads to diminished T cell responses and selectively modulates nuclear levels of c-Jun and c-Fos. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 5488–5496.
- Rakowska, A., Danker, T., Schneider, S.W., Oberleithner, H., 1998. ATP-induced shape change of nuclear pores visualized with the atomic force microscope. J. Membr. Biol. 163, 129–136.
- Ren, Y., Seo, H.S., Blobel, G., Hoelz, A., 2010. Structural and functional analysis of the interaction between the nucleoporin Nup98 and the mRNA export factor Rae1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 10406–10411.

- Renault, L., Kuhlmann, J., Henkel, A., Wittinghofer, A., 2001. Structural basis for guanine nucleotide exchange on Ran by the regulator of chromosome condensation (RCC1). Cell 105, 245–255.
- Ribbeck, K., GoÈrlich, D., 2001. Kinetic analysis of translocation through nuclear pore complexes. EMBO J. 20, 1320–1330.
- Riviere, L., Darlix, J.L., Cimarelli, A., 2010. Analysis of the viral elements required in the nuclear import of HIV-1 DNA. J. Virol. 84, 729–739.
- Rixon, F.J., 2010. Herpesviruses: an in-depth view. Structure 18, 2-4.
- Rout, M.P., Aitchison, J.D., Suprapto, A., Hjertaas, K., Zhao, Y., Chait, B.T., 2000. The yeast nuclear pore complex: composition, architecture, and transport mechanism. J. Cell Biol. 148, 635–651.
- Rush, M.G., Drivas, G., D'Eustachio, P., 1996. The small nuclear GTPase Ran: how much does it run? Bioessays 18, 103–112.
- Russell, W.C., 2009. Adenoviruses: update on structure and function. J. Gen. Virol. 90, 1-20.
- Sapp, M., Day, P.M., 2009. Structure, attachment and entry of polyoma- and papillomaviruses. Virology 384, 400–409.
- Saric, M., Zhao, X., Korner, C., Nowak, C., Kuhlmann, J., Vetter, I.R., 2007. Structural and biochemical characterization of the Importin-beta.Ran.GTP.RanBD1 complex. FEBS Lett. 581, 1369–1376.
- Scheffzek, K., Klebe, C., Fritz-Wolf, K., Kabsch, W., Wittinghofer, A., 1995. Crystal structure of the nuclear Ras-related protein Ran in its GDP-bound form. Nature 374, 378–381.
- Schmitz, A., Schwarz, A., Foss, M., Zhou, L., Rabe, B., Hoellenriegel, J., et al., 2010. Nucleoporin 153 arrests the nuclear import of hepatitis B virus capsids in the nuclear basket. PLoS Pathog. 6, 1–15.
- Schrader, N., Koerner, C., Koessmeier, K., Bangert, J.A., Wittinghofer, A., Stoll, R., et al., 2008. The crystal structure of the Ran-Nup153ZnF2 complex: a general Ran docking site at the nuclear pore complex. Structure 16, 1116–1125.
- Schwartz, T.U., 2005. Modularity within the architecture of the nuclear pore complex. Curr. Opinion in Structural Biology 15, 221–226.
- Seewald, M.J., Korner, C., Wittinghofer, A., Vetter, I.R., 2002. RanGAP mediates GTP hydrolysis without an arginine finger. Nature 415, 662–666.
- Seewald, M.J., Kraemer, A., Farkasovsky, M., Korner, C., Wittinghofer, A., Vetter, I.R., 2003. Biochemical characterization of the Ran-RanBP1-RanGAP system: are RanBP proteins and the acidic tail of RanGAP required for the Ran-RanGAP GTPase reaction? Mol. Cell. Biol. 23, 8124–8136.
- Sheffield, L., Miskiewicz, H., Tannenbaum, L., Mirra, S., 2006. Nuclear pore complex proteins in Alzheimer disease. J. Neuropath. Exp. Neur. 65, 45–54.
- Shulga, N., Goldfarb, D.S., 2003. Binding dynamics of structural nucleoporins govern nuclear pore complex permeability and may mediate channel gating. Mol. Cell. Biol. 23, 534–542.
- Sorokin, A., Kim, E., Ovchinnikov, L., 2007. Nucleocytoplasmic transport of proteins. Biochemistry (Moscow) 72, 1439–1457.
- Stewart, M., 2003. Structural biology. Nuclear trafficking. Science 302, 1513–1514.
- Stewart, M., 2006. Structural basis for the nuclear protein import cycle. Biochem. Soc. T. 34, 701–704.
- Stewart, M., 2007. Molecular mechanism of the nuclear protein import cycle. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biol. 8, 195–208.
- Stoffler, D., Feja, B., Fahrenkrog, B., Walz, J., Typke, D., Aebi, U., 2003. Cryo-electron tomography provides novel insights into nuclear pore architecture: implications for nucleocytoplasmic transport. J. Mol. Biol. 328, 119–130.

- Storr, H.L., Kind, B., Parfitt, D.A., Chapple, J.P., Lorenz, M., Koehler, K., et al., 2009. Deficiency of ferritin heavy-chain nuclear import in triple a syndrome implies nuclear oxidative damage as the primary disease mechanism. Mol. Endocrinol. 23, 2086–2094.
- Strawn, L., Shen, T., Shulga, N., Goldfarb, D., Wente, S., 2004. Minimal nuclear pore complexes define FG repeat domains essential for transport. Nat. Cell Biol. 6, 197–206.
- Strom, A.C., Weis, K., 2001. Importin-beta-like nuclear transport receptors. Genome Biol. 2, reviews3008.1–reviews3008.9.
- Sun, C., Yang, W., Tu, L., Musser, S., 2008. Single-molecule measurements of importin / cargo complex dissociation at the nuclear pore. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 8613–8618.
- Suntharalingam, M., Wente, S.R., 2003. Peering through the pore: Nuclear pore complex structure, assembly, and function. Dev. Cell 4, 775–789.
- Suzuki, T., Yamamoto, N., Nonaka, M., Hashimoto, Y., Matsuda, G., Takeshima, S.N., et al., 2009. Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) nuclear import via Vpr-Importin alpha interactions as a novel HIV-1 therapy. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 380, 838–843.
- Suzuki, Y., Craigie, R., 2007. The road to chromatin nuclear entry of retroviruses. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 5, 187–196.
- Swaminathan, S., Melchior, F., 2002. Nucleocytoplasmic transport: More than the usual suspects. Dev. Cell 3, 304–306.
- Tartakoff, A.M., Tao, T., 2010. Comparative and evolutionary aspects of macromolecular translocation across membranes. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 42, 214–229.
- Terry, L.J., Wente, S.R., 2009. Flexible gates: dynamic topologies and functions for FG nucleoporins in nucleocytoplasmic transport. Eukaryot. Cell 8, 1814–1827.
- Tewari, R., Bailes, E., Bunting, K.A., Coates, J.C., 2010. Armadillo-repeat protein functions: questions for little creatures. Trends Cell Biol. 20, 470–481.
- Trotman, L.C., Mosberger, N., Fornerod, M., Stidwill, R.P., Greber, U.F., 2001. Import of adenovirus DNA involves the nuclear pore complex receptor CAN/Nup214 and histone H1. Nat. Cell Biol. 3, 1092–1100.
- Truant, R., Cullen, B.R., 1999. The arginine-rich domains present in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat and Rev function as direct importin beta-dependent nuclear localization signals. Mol. Cell Biol. 19, 1210–1217.
- Tsangaridou, E., Polioudaki, H., Sfakianaki, R., Samiotaki, M., Tzardi, M., Koulentaki, M., et al., 2010. Differential detection of nuclear envelope autoantibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis using routine and alternative methods. BMC Gastroenterol. 10, 1–13.
- Um, J.W., Min, D.S., Rhim, H., Kim, J., Paik, S.R., Chung, K.C., 2006. Parkin ubiquitinates and promotes the degradation of RanBP2. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 3595–3603.
- Vetter, I.R., Wittinghofer, A., 2001. The guanine nucleotide-binding switch in three dimensions. Science 294, 1299–1304.
- von Kobbe, C., van Deursen, J.M., Rodrigues, J.P., Sitterlin, D., Bachi, A., Wu, X., et al., 2000. Vesicular stomatitis virus matrix protein inhibits host cell gene expression by targeting the nucleoporin Nup98. Mol. Cell 6, 1243–1252.
- Walde, S., Kehlenbach, R.H., 2010. The Part and the Whole: functions of nucleoporins in nucleocytoplasmic transport. Trends Cell Biol. 20, 461–469.
- Weidman, M.K., Sharma, R., Raychaudhuri, S., Kundu, P., Tsai, W., Dasgupta, A., 2003. The interaction of cytoplasmic RNA viruses with the nucleus. Virus Res. 95, 75–85.
- Wente, S.R., 2000. Gatekeepers of the nucleus. Science 288, 1374-1377.
- Whittaker, G., Bui, M., Helenius, A., 1996. The role of nuclear import and export in influenza virus infection. Trends Cell Biol. 6, 67–71.
- Wolf, C., Mofrad, M.R., 2008. On the octagonal structure of the nuclear pore complex: insights from coarse-grained models. Biophys. J. 95, 2073–2085.

- Wolf, C., Mofrad, M., 2009. Mechanotransduction: role of nuclear pore mechanics and nucleocytoplasmic transport (Ch. 18). In: Mofrad, M., Kamm, R. (Eds.), Cellular mechanotransduction: diverse perspectives from molecules to tissues. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Woodward, C.L., Prakobwanakit, S., Mosessian, S., Chow, S.A., 2009. Integrase interacts with nucleoporin NUP153 to mediate the nuclear import of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 83, 6522–6533.
- Wu, J., Corbett, A.H., Berland, K.M., 2009. The intracellular mobility of nuclear import receptors and NLS cargoes. Biophys. J. 96, 3840–3849.
- Wu, W.W.H., Pante, N., 2009. The directionality of the nuclear transport of the influenza A genome is driven by selective exposure of nuclear localization sequences on nucleoprotein. Virol. J. 6, 1–12.
- Xu, L., Massagué, J., 2004. Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of signal transducers. Nature Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5, 209–219.
- Xu, S., Powers, M.A., 2009. Nuclear pore proteins and cancer. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 620–630.
- Yadirgi, G., Marino, S., 2009. Adult neural stem cells and their role in brain pathology. J. Pathol. 217, 242–253.
- Yamazumi, Y., Kamiya, A., Nishida, A., Nishihara, A., Iemura, S., Natsume, T., et al., 2009. The transmembrane nucleoporin NDC1 is required for targeting of ALADIN to nuclear pore complexes. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 389, 100–104.
- Yang, S.N., Takeda, A.A., Fontes, M.R., Harris, J.M., Jans, D.A., Kobe, B., 2010. Probing the specificity of binding to the major nuclear localization sequence-binding site of importin-alpha using oriented peptide library screening. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 19935–19946.
- Yang, W., Musser, S.M., 2006. Nuclear import time and transport efficiency depend on importin beta concentration. J. Cell Biol. 174, 951–961.
- Yaseen, N.R., Blobel, G., 1999. Two distinct classes of Ran-binding sites on the nucleoporin Nup-358. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96, 5516–5521.
- Yasuhara, N., Oka, M., Yoneda, Y., 2009. The role of the nuclear transport system in cell differentiation. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 590–599.
- Yasuhara, N., Shibazaki, N., Tanaka, S., Nagai, M., Kamikawa, Y., Oe, S., et al., 2007. Triggering neural differentiation of ES cells by subtype switching of importin-alpha. Nat. Cell Biol. 9, 72–79.
- Yudin, D., Fainzilber, M., 2009. Ran on tracks–cytoplasmic roles for a nuclear regulator. J. Cell Sci. 122, 587–593.
- Zachariae, U., Grubmuller, H., 2008. Importin-beta: structural and dynamic determinants of a molecular spring. Structure 16, 906–915.
- Zachariae, U., Grubmüller, H., 2006. A highly strained nuclear conformation of the exportin Cse1p revealed by molecular dynamics simulations. Structure 14, 1469–1478.
- Zeitler, B., Weis, K., 2004. The FG-repeat asymmetry of the nuclear pore complex is dispensable for bulk nucleocytoplasmic transport in vivo. J. Cell Biol. 167, 583–590.
- Zennou, V., Petit, C., Guetard, D., Nerhbass, U., Montagnier, L., Charneau, P., 2000. HIV-1 genome nuclear import is mediated by a central DNA flap. Cell 101, 173–185.
- Zhang, X., Chen, S., Yoo, S., Chakrabarti, S., Zhang, T., Ke, T., et al., 2008. Mutation in nuclear pore component NUP155 leads to atrial fibrillation and early sudden cardiac death. Cell 135, 1017–1027.
- Zilman, A., Di Talia, S., Chait, B., Rout, M., Magnasco, M., 2007. Efficiency, selectivity, and robustness of nucleocytoplasmic transport. PLoS Comput. Biol. 3, 1281–1290.